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Recovery of export markets started a positive economic trend in BiH 

The end of recession in most countries where Bosnia and Herzegovina exports its products and services started some 
steps forward in the economy of Bosnia and Herzegovina in late 2009.  This positive trend continued in 2010, and is 
expected to continue 2011.  However, these positive changes are evident only through some macroeconomic indicators 
and in some industrial sectors, while the economy as a whole as still a long way to got to the actual recovery. 

Economic recovery is lingering, and there is no actual improvement in livelihood or demand.  Although the “currency 
board” instrument, which is elementary for the operations of the BiH Central Bank, as it ensures the stability of the 
fixed exchange rate, where the value of BAM is matched to EUR, does, in terms of statistic, keep inflation trends at bay 
(2.1%), the real price growth is an increasing burden causing livelihood to deteriorate further, available revenues and 
demand on the market to decrease. 
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The overall economic activity remains at a very low level and anticipated strategic investments are either put off or put 
an end to.  A confirmation of the basis for an increased export are the increased GDP (0.9%) and industrial production 
(1.6%), although these improvements have not resulted in the increased investment value or employment, on the con-
trary, registered unemployment grew and exceeded 42%. 

One of the few apposite macroeconomic indicators for the previous multian-
nual period – relatively low foreign debt in 2010 – deteriorated primarily due 
to the stand-by arrangement with the IMF and loans from European financial 
institutions (EIB, EBRD), and reached 6.3 bln BAM, which is 25.5% of the GDP. 

Total value of foreign investments has been decreasing for years, first and foremost due to especially unfavorable 
conditions for business, and, in a smaller part, due to consequences of the recession. The year 2010 is specific for the 
standstill in the economic reform process and absence of adequate support to investments, foreign and domestic alike.  

* CBBiH estimate 
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Leading export sectors – potential for investments 

The energy sector achieved improvements both in terms of 
production and export (46.44%), especially in the field of 
electrical energy and oil derivatives.  Besides its systemic 
problems and excessive import, the agro-industrial sector 
has used the global trend of food price increase, which pro-
vides it with a long term perspective, with huge unused po-
tentials and high expectancy from investment return.  Fur-
niture production is once again on a path upwards, having 
penetrated new markets, with a large step forward in the 
field of design, recognized by some of the most prestigious 
international prizes in the field.  Textile and leather processing industry has used the recovery on the export markets, 
especially German and Italian, for an accelerated recovery and growth of export (13.87%), which cleared the path for 
some new investments and enhanced production. The recession hit hard on the strongest exporting sector – metal 
industry, due to the globally decreased demand and price of ores, metal and metal products.  Its recovery and renewed 
production and export (51.51%) in 2010 gave the most significant contribution to the overall expansion of exports, with 
an expected continuation of the positive trends.  The recession left consequences on the construction industry and real 
estate trade, which have not been repaired even in 2010, as the credit crisis put a stop on financing construction when 
the recession started, while impaired access to financing and drastic decrease in demand prevent notable recovery. 

Opportunities for exporters to seize favorable conditions on foreign markets 

The only sizeable step forward has been achieved in the foreign trade ex-
change, with continued significant increase of export (29.45%) and export-
import ratio (16.85%), and consequential reduction of deficit.  These positive 
trends are also a result of a global price growth of our leading exporters, but 
also real potentials of leading exporters to seize their opportunities in more 
favorable climate and competitively and successfully act on even the most 
demanding markets in the world. The most significant foreign trade partners were some of the members of CEFTA 2006 
(predominantly neighboring countries) and of the European Union (Germany, Italy, Slovenia, etc.).  Foreign trade struc-
ture discloses improvements in most sectors. The highest export was achieved in ore and metal sector, wood process-
ing – furniture production, energy production, machines and appliances, and import in the machines and appliances 
production sector, energy and agriculture.  

Foreign trade exchange of Bosnia and Herzegovina in mil. BAM
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GROWTH OF EXPORT 
Metal processing 		          51.51%
Energy			           46.44%
Agro-industry  			           21.01%
Wood industry  			          20.43%
Textile, leather and shoes production    13.87%
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Investment and credit activity stagnation

The overall stagnation of economic activity and standstill of the investment cycle have had two chief consequences on 
the banking sector:  

•	 Narrowing the space for credit activity due to the lack of adequate investment projects, but also worsening of the 
overall financial situation of legal entities primarily; 

•	 Drastic increase in the costs of credit loss reservation (51%) due to the inability of clients to service their liabilities, 
which is the main reason for the profitability of the sector to decrease.  

The negative development of the quality of assets of the sector is best illustrated by the trends of the share of poor 
quality credits, which grew from 3.1% in 2008 to 11.4% in 2010.  In an economic situation as this, the banking sector, 
logically, introduced more severe risk management criteria, which is best seen through the stagnation of the credit and 
deposit portfolio in the sector.  

Deposit and crecit development in the banking sector in mil. BAM
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A more cautious approach to the placement of assets resulted in a more difficult access to the sources of financing 
and worsened liquidity and solvency of most business entities.  Such situation has opened the space for some banks 
with smaller shares on the market to use more concrete relations with clients, innovative approach and new attractive 
products to stand out from the competition and actively contribute recovery of the so called real sector.  

Further obstacles are the inexistence of a uniform supervision of the banking and financial sector, unfavorable regula-
tion framework adopted at a time of significantly different market conditions, and limited authorizations and mecha-
nisms of the BiH Central Bank, which, as it relies on the “currency board” principle, cannot use monetary policy mea-
sures that most other central banks have at their disposal.  

All this considered, the results of the leading exporters in 2010 are an encouragement that shows that the recovery of 
the economy in general is possible, and that further development will extensively rely on economic policy and concrete 
support by the new governing structures. Foreseeable improvements in terms of financing economy in 2011 would fos-
ter the financial and the real sector equally. Fundamental improvement of conditions for business is the only possible 
solution that will make the 2011 more successful for both the economy and the people of Bosnia and Herzegovina.  

Discussed with: Igor Gavran, economic analyst, BiH Foreign Trade Chamber 
Sources: CBBiH, BiH FTC, BiH Employment Agency, BiH Association of Banks, BiH Agency for Statistics 
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Achievements
2010 in numbers
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Establishing a positive
course of business 

Net profit in 000 BAM 
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The bank that offers new solutions – crediting in focus 
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19.9%  

Number of clients 
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Client deposits in 000 BAM 
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15%  14.2%  

Growth as a signal of trust in
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Return on equity returned to 
positive zone 

ROE in % 
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Increasing assets through 
loan growth and purchase
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Commitment to development with existing resources
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The bank that stands out from the banking sector trends 

Deposit growth in 2010/2009 in %
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Innovations 
Changes for success 
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Synergy of Sales and Risk through Watch Loan Committee

Watch Loan Committee (WLC), as a project task of Sparkasse risk management experts, in cooperation with the Sales 
and IT Departments, was prepared in 2010 to be implemented in 2011.  

This project means introduction of a new additional assets management system and a good quality credit portfolio of 
the bank, which is, besides regular risk management mechanisms, a response to a deteriorated credit discipline of the 
clients, caused by the crisis in real economy.  Moreover, strong growth rates of the Sparkasse Bank bring along addi-
tional complexity, and the complexity brings on risks that have to be managed in the best way.  

In practice the WLC is a team of people or a monitoring body that monitors and identifies risks linked to individual cli-
ents in a very early stage and proposes strategies for the existing portfolio.  

However, this first stage of the strong monitoring system is not just a reaction to events on the market, but also the first 
step in building up a general business practice and culture in the bank where growth and risk management go hand 
in hand.  A specificity of this innovation that makes it stand out from regular risk management mechanisms is that it 
monitors early warning signs separately.  

Advantages that the new concept will bring to the bank, through a stronger and more systematized sales and risk man-
agement coordination, is a more efficient control, maintenance and improvement of asset quality, better profitability 
through reduction of reservation costs and, eventually, better service to clients, in terms of timely and coordinated reac-
tion of the bank and its clients to the first signs of problems related to credit repayment.  

A stronger centralization of credit administration and central archive for better quality and 
control

In 2010 the Organization Department lead the development developed a new software system S-PAC for monitoring the 
complete loan process, and introduced a new system for loan administration and central documentation archive of the 
Bank, following the model of the mother bank, Steiermaerkische Sparkasse in Graz. Through unification of operations 
and introduction of the loan process monitoring system, S-PAC advanced the loan process, which created conditions for 
further improvements and streamlining of processes.
 
The new system practically means that the two newly formed departments: Placement administration department (BOF) 
in the Operations Divison and Central Archive Department in Security and Assets Management Directorate, addition-
ally centralize administration work within the loan process, and that the central credit documentation archive of the 
Bank is formed in one place.  Both these functions in the central office get a whole range of additional activities and 
responsibilities, while at the same time sales staff is freed from a lot of work in the credit process and can be more 
actively oriented towards the clients, which brings elementary advantage – more efficient and streamlined processes 
lead to better quality and faster service for the clients. Fundamental benefits of this new centralized way of work are 
the improved quality of credit documentation, improved internal control system, organized system and fast access to 
documents through central archive, and less documentation burdening on the offices. 

Improved service quality and variety of products 

Following the objective of establishing and respecting the standards that provide maximum quality of client services, 
in 2010, besides good sales results, the Sales Department  made some quality improvements – offer of services and 
products was enhanced based on the research into current demands on the market, which was all followed by strong 
promotion activities.  A new complaint management system was established in form of a separate department, as well 
as a client information service through a contact center.  Sales Department structure and staff reorganization based 
on detailed client segmentation (advisors and personal bankers in the population segment, and managers for relations 
with groups of clients in the industry segment) was aimed as different groups of clients getting tailor-made services.  
This new organization will certainly contribute to the quality of services, better client satisfaction and client acquisition.  
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Adopting the socially responsible business strategies 

Following the idea that meeting our economic goals is possible only in advanced and stabile communities, in 2010 mar-
keting and PR departments, along with putting the objectives in line with other business functions, drew a three-year 
strategy of socially responsible activities of the bank.  Once it is adopted by the Management, this document becomes 
the official development framework implemented through concrete action plans in all business segment as of 2011.  
A new thing compared to previous business practice is that the Corporate Social Responsibility concept now becomes 
organized and systematized approach of all functions within the Bank, from sales to support segments, which will, as 
of now, implement their activities guided by the objectives defined in the roof strategy of CSR, which will be presented 
in their annual operation plans.  

With the aim to attain the position of the example of ethical business which is at the same time economically efficient, 
action strategy is aimed to four topical pillars: EMPLOYEES, MARKET, CLIENTS, COMMUNITY.  Concrete topical priorities 
are: EDUCATION AND YOUTH, VOLUNTEERING AND YOUTH EMPLOYMENT, SPORTS, CULTURE, SOCIAL INCLUSION and 
ENVIRONMENT.  

Sparkasse bank’s CSR strategy already defines concrete objectives and activities for each of the four topical pillars, 
and an example of community-oriented activities is the Business Makeover Employment Project.  This project is done 
online, on the Facebook social network, where the Bank, together with the Posao.ba Youth Portal, has invited young 
unemployed people to join in, linked them to potential employers, promoted them and gave them necessary education 
in different fields.  There have already been some results – two young people got employment, one founded a private 
company, while several candidates attended education.  

Youth employment through CSR projects - Business Makeover candidate with his new employeer
Left to right: Haris Avdić - Sparkasse Bank, Muamer Bešić - Candidate BM, Suad Ećo - Ećo Company, Džemil Ličina - Ećo Company
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Our clients 
Reliability creates friendships
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Mozaik Foundation is a social enterprise that offers financial and advisory support to actions of common interest in the 
communities from all parts of Bosnia and Herzegovina, focusing on rural communities. The activities of the Foundation 
are based on the RUZ methodology – full involvement of the community in the local development. As a result of this 
methodology, community members: solve specific local problems thus improving the quality of life in their communities; 
develop mutual relations and build up capacities to use local resources and work together effectively towards their own 
development. In short, the foundation gives initial funds and prepares the participants of the project to do everything 
else themselves. The Foundation co-finances projects that bring tangible improvements in local communities, such as 
roads, water supply, street lights and improving locations of cultural heritage.  

Mozaik Foundation acts in four program fields:
1. Active community program 
2. Cultural heritage and tourism 
3. Program Plus – Social justice and inclusion 
4. Youth banks 

In 2009 Mozaik Foundation founded EkoMozaik ltd. and MaŠta Agency ltd. with the goal to promote social responsibil-
ity and employing people in rural parts of Bosnia and Herzegovina. These two companies reinvest their profit into new 
employment and allocate it to new development projects of the Mozaik Foundation.  

Achievements 

The contracts so far signed with donors are collectively worth BAM 4.889,575.00 invested in different projects, while 
BAM 393,556.00 have been invested in rural projects through EcoMozaik Company. Mozaik supported 172 initiatives 
in 48 municipalities in all parts of Bosnia and Herzegovina. The total value of the projects has been BAM 956,772.00, 
with 61% collected from local resources. Zoran Puljić, director of the Mozaik Foundation was awarded as “Social Entre-
preneur of the Year 2010” of Central and Eastern Europe at the World Economic Forum in Brussels.  

 
Mozaik
NGO

Foundation
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Zoran Puljić, director, Mozaik Foundation 
Social entrepreneurship means solving social issues in an economically 
sustainable manner 

For Bosnia and Herzegovina, social entrepreneurship is a new concept for Bosnia and Herze-
govina and it is usually mistaken for humanitarian work.  However, social entrepreneurship is 
developmental action.  In a way the Mozaik Foundation initiated the creation of this so called 
fourth sector in the country, but also in the region, so I would like to explain the difference in 
a simplified way: if the goal of any humanitarian activity is to help any segment of the society 
that needs help, the goal of social entrepreneurship is to help communities help themselves 
through socially useful projects, that are profitable and economically sustainable. In short, 
it is our mission to identify the most vulnerable target groups, focusing on rural areas, that 
have the most efficient initiatives and projects that support the community, and to offer them 
financial and advisory support to present and implement those projects.  The key in this is our 
RUZ methodology – it implies active participation of the communities themselves, which builds 
up their confidence and independence.  In concrete terms, we have unused profit potential in 
the village.  One of our responses to this problem is starting the production of organic honey 
in Šekovići.  This is only one of the examples of our work where we succeeded to mobilize local 
resources, hire people, give them training – we simply helped them believe in their dreams and 
work on making them come true.  On top of creating social value, we work on the creation of 
economic value through very concrete activities in the field.

Una Mesić, director, MaŠta Agency
We wish to promote positive examples of socially responsible companies

Our mission is to initiate and promote the principles of socially responsible business, both on 
corporate and on individual level in Bosnia and Herzegovina. We plan to fulfill this mission 
through a range of projects, and we rely on our considerable experience in this field that, and 
through synergy with Mozaik we can aim our efforts towards social and economic develop-
ment, focusing on local communities. Our activities are also aimed at building awareness on 
the need to integrate social responsibility in the business concept and policy of companies in 
Bosnia and Herzegovina.  One of our projects has been the selection of socially responsible 
companies in Bosnia and Herzegovina, DOBRO, which we have been working on for the past 
four years.  It was through the campaign and the selection itself that we wanted to push the 
companies to working in a socially responsible manner, informing the BiH public with the 
examples of socially responsible practices.  As the CSR concept was relatively unknown top 
the BiH public, we did not want to criticize, but to promote positive examples and initiatives of 
companies to take over the responsibility for the society they act in.

Kristina Šešlija, director, EkoMozaik ltd. 
Local community development through organic honey production 

EkoMozaik ltd. was created as a response to the demand for high-quality honey felt of the BiH 
market – Bosnia and Herzegovina imports more honey than it produces, while it has one of the 
highest consumption of honey per capita in Europe. Our specialized facility for organic produc-
tion in Šekovići is going to produce high-quality certified honey and bee-hives, and it is our vi-
sion to become the leader of the organic food production industry.  We have already employed 
10-20 people from Šekovići, and we are currently working to prepare the plants to get HACCAP 
certificate for organic honey production, which we want to supply to the market of Bosnia and 
Herzegovina, but also foreign markets as well. In the three year period, EkoMozaik will build 
up a honey farm with 3,000 bee societies, hire 50 unemployed persons from Šekovići and 
Živinice and produce from 50 to 100 tons of high-quality honey and at least 5,000 bee-hives a 
year. Lavender production project accompanying honey farming itself is 3 mil BAM worth and 
hires 62 part-time workers – the number of workers is expected to grow to 100. It is through 
EkoMozaik that we have implemented the guiding idea of the foundation – creating economic 
value through community development, through giving employment to rural women, empower-
ing them to act in their communities.  
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First private wholesale of pharmaceutical and chemical products BiH 

Medimpex ltd. was founded in 1989, with its head office in Sarajevo, as the first privately-owned wholesale of pharma-
ceutical and chemical products and medical equipment. 

Link between foreign and domestic market 

Core business of the company is purchasing, warehousing and distribution of drugs, with import of products to Bosnia 
and Herzegovina is based on contracts on representation of foreign companies and registration of drugs.  Medimpex 
ltd. has its own shipping agency, which makes foreign trade a lot easier for the company.  In its array of products, the 
company has about 3,000 medicaments of domestic and foreign producers.  

Success through the international quality standards, employees and strategic b2b marketing

The company hires 80 people, among them ten masters of pharmacy and ten pharmaceutical technicians.   Through 
focusing on recruitment and education of employees, well planned marketing strategies, the organization become one 
of the leaders on the market of drugs and medical equipment in Bosnia and Herzegovina. Four years ago the company 
made a large step towards positioning itself on the market, meeting the conditions for quality management system cer-
tification audit.  International certification organization BUREAU VERITAS confirmed that Medimpex’s quality manage-
ment system is in line with the requirements of the international standard EN ISO 9001:2008.  

Herbal tea production 

In 2006 the company started its own tea packaging plant. Today, 20 vehicles for transportation of drugs distribute 
Medimpex assortment throughout Bosnia and Herzegovina.

 
Medimpex
Wholesale of pharmaceutical and chemical products



35Annual Report 2010

Director, Šemso Mujezin, MPharm (hons) 
Quality as absolute imperative  

The key for the sales segment of our company is good organization, 
flexible but well organized business process system and logistic skills.  
The other segment of our own production, one of the preconditions for 
success in our field is the absolute trust of users, spotless reputation 
and the highest quality standards.  For all these you need a very strong 
and good team of people, so we keep focus on continuous education 
and human resource development. 
 
Of course, all we do is valued only through adequate placement on 
the market, so the focus is directed towards the desires and needs of 
our buyers and suppliers.  Our unvarying focus is customer satisfac-
tion, which we achieve through efficient application of adopted quality 
management system, improving our business processes and building 
a positive image for Medimpex both in BiH and in other countries.
  
For the past several years MEDIMPEX has developed a modern busi-
ness system, keeping systemic quality management our imperative 
and focusing on customer satisfaction.  In short, we made quality our 
main strategic guideline.  

If a company puts its own benchmarks this high, professionalism be-
comes one of the main characteristics on the long run.  Good relations 
with business partners are one of the keys to success.  Our company 
sees Sparkasse Bank as one of those partners – partners to talk to, 
to find flexible solutions to everyday issues and to offer good financing 
models for our sustainable growth.
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5th Dimension is a company that designs and produces computer information systems, which follows in the footsteps of 
the 4th Dimension, founded late 1989 in Sarajevo. It produces computer programs for Microsoft® Windows® platform.
The Company has 19 employees who work on program solutions and newest tools, following all the trends in the devel-
opment of information technologies as a science and development of technologies as such.  

Reference list of the company includes dozens of companies for all sectors and industries, from public administration, 
production and service companies to creative agencies.  

User-friendly programs that help making business decisions 

5D creates program solutions with the task to speed up daily work and offer data necessary for making informed busi-
ness decisions.  Each solution is tailor-made for each individual client and clients are offered training for its use.  

All programs are produces ad 32-bit application in case-tool Clarion® for Windows. They rely on comfortable graphic 
environment of the Windows® platform. 

A very important and unique detail – all reports from applications are made in a format directly imported in Microsoft® 
Word® so each report can be altered or adjusted to the needs.  It supports the use of fax-modem and internet, and is 
compatible to all other Windows® applications.  All applications support any network of PC compatible systems.   

Young and motivated staff is the key to our success 

Producing software for companies is a highly sophisticated service, so 5D staff is expected to have top of the scale 
competences in information technologies, but also skills to communicate with clients and an economic understanding 
of the company, in order to be able to provide the best response to the demands.  Therefore, most of the 5D employees 
are young, innovative and enthusiastic experts.

 
5th Dimension
Computer systems design company
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Elvir Karišik, director 5th Dimension
Bosnia and Herzegovina has an intellectual force within   

We are a part of a very demanding and sophisticated industry based 
on intellectual strength and continuous improvement of skills.  This 
is exactly why I see the mission of our company as twofold.   Firstly, 
we want to be a profitable and economically sustainable company, to 
the satisfaction of both employees and clients.   Secondly, we want 
to develop and improve the quality of the IT industry in Bosnia and 
Herzegovina, as we are a part of a sector that shows that domestic 
companies in Bosnia and Herzegovina are able to produce intellectual 
strengths.  

Our vision on the long run is to hire more young, ambitious experts 
and to push our business forward, towards the markets in the region, 
and to promote our sector beyond the borders of our country. Clearly, 
these goals are ambitions and competition is strong.  It is not easy to 
meet the demands of foreign markets in such a dynamic segment that 
requires keeping in touch with innovations and investments in tech-
nologies and knowledge. However, we strongly believe we can grow, 
because we believe in our company and potential of this industry.  

Such growth on a market that changes and moves constantly can be 
followed only by an open and flexible, even unconventional bank.  For 
the past three years of cooperation, Sparkasse Bank proved to be ex-
actly that kind of business partner and follow the needs of our opera-
tions.
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Truthfulness and professionalism is my absolute demand 

It is with Sparkasse Bank that I have managed to achieve a good business relation, that bears exactly what I value the 
most: truthfulness, fair relations and respecting agreements.

I see Sparkasse Bank through people with their own personal characteristics and an especially professional relation, 
and they are the reason why I am and remain to be a client of this bank.  In short, with the high level of professionalism 
that I met here, I have a partner that goes side by side with me, and there is no waste of time. 

 
Rifat Ličina
Retail client 
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The Management Board is pleased to submit its report together with the audited financial statements for the year ended 31 December 
2010. 

Review of operations
The result for the year ended 31 December 2010 of the Bank is set out in the statement of comprehensive income on page 43. 

Supervisory Board, Management Board and Audit Committee
During the course of 2010 and up to the date of this report, the Supervisory Board was as follows: 

Supervisory Board  
Sava Dalbokov	 	 President (from 26 November 2010)
Franz Kerber	 	 Member (from 26 November 2010), President (until that date) 
Hamdija Alagić	 	 Member
Georg Bucher		  Member
Renate Ferlitz		  Member
Kristijan Schellander	 Member (until 26 November 2010)

As of 31 December 2010 the Management Board comprised 5 executive directors. The persons who served as executive directors during 
the year and up to the date of this report are as follows:

Management Board
Sanel Kusturica 		  Director
Gerhard Maier		  Executive Director
Nedim Alihodžić	 	 Executive Director
Zahida Karić	 	 Executive Director
Amir Softić	 	 Executive Director (from 1 October 2010)

Audit Committee
Samir Omerhodžić	 	 President
Walbura Seidl	 	 Member
Guenter Schneider		  Member
Aleksandar Klemenčić	 Member
Slaviša Kojić	 	 Member

On behalf of the Management Board: 

Sanel Kusturica
Director 

Sparkasse bank d.d. 
Financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2010
(All amounts are expressed in BAM thousand unless otherwise stated)

Management Board report
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The Management Board is required to prepare financial statements for each financial year which give a true and fair view of the finan-
cial position of the Bank and of the results of its operations and cash flows, in accordance with statutory requirements for banks in the 
Federation of Bosnia and Herzegovina, and is responsible for maintaining proper accounting records to enable the preparation of such 
financial statements at any time. It has a general responsibility for taking such steps as are reasonably available to it to safeguard the 
assets of the Bank and to prevent and detect fraud and other irregularities.

The Management Board is responsible for selecting suitable accounting policies to conform with applicable accounting standards and 
then apply them consistently; making judgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent; and preparing the financial state-
ments on a going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the Bank will continue in business.

The Management Board is responsible for the submission to the Supervisory Board of its annual report on the Bank together with the 
annual financial statements, following which the Supervisory Board is required to approve the annual financial statements for submis-
sion to the General Assembly of Shareholders for adoption.

The financial statements set out on pages 43 to 93 were authorised by the Management Board on 18 February 2011 for issue to the 
Supervisory Board and are signed below to signify this. 

Signed on behalf of the Management Board 

Sanel Kusturica	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 Zahida Karić 
Director											           Executive Director

Sparkasse Bank d.d.
Zmaja od Bosne 7
71000 Sarajevo
Bosnia and Herzegovina 

18 February 2011 

Sparkasse bank d.d.
Financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2010

(All amounts are expressed in BAM thousand unless otherwise stated)

Responsibilities of the Management and Supervisory Board
 for the preparation and approval of the annual financial statements 
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Notes 2010. 2009. 

OPERATING ACTIVITES

Profit/(loss) before tax 1,947 (6,482)

  Adjustments:

Depreciation and amortisation 1,897 1,802

Loss on disposal of fixed assets 283 79

Increase in / (release of) provisions 175 (655)

Increase in impairment allowances 13,396 16,292

Cash flows from operating activities before changes in operating assets and liabilities 17,698 11,036

(Increase) / decrease in obligatory reserve with the Central Bank (4,061) 11,474

Increase in placements with and loans and advances to other banks (16,672) (51,236)

Increase in loans and advances to customers (95,124) (99,735)

(Increase) / decrease in other assets (900) 583

Increase in deposits from banks 95,732 140,135

Increase in deposits from customers 42,769 73,962

Increase / (decrease) in other provisions 437 (76)

Increase in other liabilities 993 189

NET CASH INFLOW FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES 40,872 86,332

Income tax paid (13) (1)

Net cash flow from operating activities 40,859 86,331

Cash flow from investing activities

Purchase of financial assets available for sale (11,067) (96)

Purchase of property and equipment (19,455) (3,616)

Purchase of investment property (6,128) -

Purchase of intangible assets (975) (915)

NET CASH OUTFLOW FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES (37,625) (4,627)

Cash flow from financing activities

Repayment of borrowings (20,347) (97,747)

Issued share capital - 20,000

NET CASH OUTFLOW FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES (20,347) (77,747)

Net (decrease) / increase in cash and cash equivalents (17,113) 3,957

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT 1 JANUARY 19 44,761 40,804

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT 31 DECEMBER 19 27,648 44,761

Interest received 40,990 33,278

Interest paid 10,736 8,293

Notes on pages 47 to 93 form an integral part of these financial statements.

Sparkasse bank d.d. 
Financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2010
(All amounts are expressed in BAM thousand unless otherwise stated)

Cash flow statement 
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Sparkasse bank d.d. 
Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2010

(All amounts are expressed in BAM thousand unless otherwise stated) 

1. REPORTING ENTITY

SPARKASSE Bank d.d. (the ‘Bank’) was registered at the competent court in Sarajevo, registration number U/I-1291/99 on 9 July 1999. 
The Bank was granted a banking licence by the Banking Agency of the Federation of Bosnia and Herzegovina (the “Agency” or “FBA”) on 
28 July 1999, registration number 01-376/99. The Bank’s registered address is in Sarajevo, Zmaja od Bosne 7.

Principal activities

The Bank offers banking services through a developed network of branches in Bosnia and Herzegovina, including:

•	 Receiving and placing of term and demand deposits 

•	 Making and purchasing of loans 

•	 Buying and selling foreign currencies 

•	 Cash transactions in the interbank market 

•	 Cash payment and transfer, both national and abroad 

•	 Debit/credit card operations

Financial crisis impact

General information

Recent volatility in global and Bosnia and Herzegovina financial market

The ongoing global liquidity crisis which commenced in the middle of 2007 has resulted in, among other things, a lower level of capital 
market funding, lower liquidity levels across the banking sector, and, at times, higher interbank lending rates and very high volatility in 
stock markets. The uncertainties in the global financial markets have also led to bank failures and bank rescues in the United States 
of America, Western Europe, Russia and elsewhere.  Indeed the full extent of the impact of the ongoing financial crisis is proving to be 
impossible to anticipate or completely guard against.

Impact of the global economic crisis on clients of the Bank

The key impact of the economic crisis is reflected in the reduction of consumption and investment both in B&H and at the global 
level, which lead to a decrease in demand, and which continues to result in a reduction in the volume of production and services. 
Decrease in revenues with almost the same level of retained expenses as in the previous period, and a decrease in liquidity financing 
by financial institutions at a time when it is significantly more difficult to collect receivables, results in reduced liquidity for the servicing 
of all liabilities by the client, which brings customers in a difficult situation regarding debt repayment and potential operating losses. 
Decrease in economic activity impacts the capacity of clients to repay their debt and requires from the Management to adopt more 
conservative business projections related to debt repayment by clients in future periods.

Based on information available, Management has correctly applied the revised estimates of expected future cash flows related to the 
evaluation of impairment, and maintained the focus of its strategy on new placements and to managing existing customers and existing 
placements in order to preserve the capital.

Liquidity management

In spite of the economic crisis the Bank maintained adequate level of liquidity throughout 2010. Concerning the liquidity, the Bank has 
strong support from the parent Bank, Steiermarkiche Bank und Sparkassen AG.

Marketability of collateral 

The lower possibility of repayment of the debt of the client from their regular cash flow leads to the need for intensive collateral 
management of the Bank. Assessment of collateral values, particularly business property, is performed annually, with special emphasis 
on the assessment of property values that are in construction and those that are just completed, where the valuation performed by a 
locally certified appraiser is reviewed at the level of the Bank.
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Sparkasse bank d.d. 
Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2010
(All amounts are expressed in BAM thousand unless otherwise stated) 

2. BASIS FOR PREPARATION AND PRESENTATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(a) Basis for preparation

These financial statements have been prepared under the Law on Accounting of the Federation of Bosnia and Herzegovina (Official 
Gazette of the Federation of Bosnia and Herzegovina, no. 83/09). 

These financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, as modified by the revaluation of buildings (if any), 
securities held for trading at fair value through profit or loss and available for sale securities.

Based on the Law on Accounting and Auditing of the Federation of Bosnia and Herzegovina, standards applied in the Federation of 
Bosnia and Herzegovina are   International Accounting Standards (IAS) and International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), which 
are translated to Bosnian language by the authorized accounting body.

The Bank applies all the IFRS and the amendments and interpretations which were published by the International Federation of 
Accountants (IFAC) and the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) and translated into Bosnian in the Federation of Bosnia 
and Herzegovina (“FBiH”) as of 31 December 2008.

In exception to the above standards, the Bank’s Financial Statements as of 31 December 2010 and 31 December 2009 have been 
prepared in accordance with the Law on Banks (Official Gazette of the Federation of Bosnia and Herzegovina, no. 33/98, 32/00, 48/01, 
41/02, 58/02, 28/03 and 19/03) and the regulations of the FBA which are overruling IFRS in certain cases. Accordingly these financial 
statements which have been prepared in accordance with statutory reporting requirements in FBiH are nor equivalent to, and do not 
purport to be financial statements prepared in accordance with IFRS. In addition to differences in respect of the required disclosures 
and presentation, the principal recognition and measurement differences between IFRS and the accounting regulations of the Agency 
are as follows:

• The Bank’s management estimates specific allowances for the impairment of financial instruments, in particular regarding loans and 
receivables, in accordance with the FBA regulations. Such a policy may result in significant departures from the amounts which would 
be determined, if the allowances for the impairment of loans and receivables were estimated based on discounted expected future cash 
flows by using the original effective interest rate, as is required under IAS 39, „Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement” 
(“IAS 39”).

• FBA requires banks to recognise impairment losses, in statement of comprehensive income, on assets not specifically identified as 
impaired at the rate of 2% (general provision), including non financial assets. The Bank has made portfolio-based provisions of BAM 
11,091 thousand (2009: BAM 9,182 thousand) carried in the statement of financial position in compliance with these regulations 
and has recognised a charge of BAM 1,909 thousand in relation to these provisions within the charge for impairment losses for the 
year (2009: charge of BAM 1,239 thousand). Such a policy may result in a significant departure from an IFRS-based methodology for 
measuring collective impairment which should ensure that only losses “incurred but not reported” (“IBNR”) should be recognised. IBNR 
represents the situation where the losses have been incurred but it is not yet evident which individual financial assets are impaired, and 
is calculated by applying an estimated loss rate for an estimated emergence period to the balance of unimpaired loans.

• According to the FBA regulations, the Bank calculates provision for higher risk off-balance sheet items in accordance with the FBA 
regulations, regardless of whether impairment indicators exist (Note 31).

• Suspended interest represents the accrued, but uncollected interest payments on assets which are classified as impaired assets. 
Upon the classification of risk-bearing assets as impaired assets, the Bank writes down the full amount of the accrued but unpaid 
interest. The Bank ceases to accrue further unpaid interest amounts on the impaired assets in its accounting records, and the accruals 
of the interest amounts due are booked on its off-balance sheet records, up to the moment in which the principal is fully collected. 
The only exception to this practice may occur in an instance in which the impaired assets have been secured by first-class or quality 
collateral, and are currently in the process of being collected. Such policy is not in accordance with IAS 18 „Revenue” (“IAS 18”) and IAS 
39 which require revenue from interest on impaired loans to be recognized using the effective interest method.

• Loans and receivables with 100% provision are transferred to off-balance sheet records in accordance with statutory rules.



53Annual Report 2010

Sparkasse bank d.d. 
Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2010

(All amounts are expressed in BAM thousand unless otherwise stated) 

2. BASIS FOR PREPARATION AND PRESENTATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

The Bank has not applied the following standards, amendments and interpretations, which are effective, not translated in the Federation 
of Bosnia and Herzegovina and not relevant for the Bank’s operations:

•	 IFRS 3 (revised), ‘Business combinations’, and consequential amendments to IAS 27, ‘Consolidated and separate financial 
statements’, IAS 28, ‘Investments in associates’, and IAS 31, ‘Interests in joint ventures’, are effective prospectively to business 
combinations for which the acquisition date is on or after the beginning of the first annual reporting period beginning on or after 
1 July 2009.

•	 IFRIC 17, ‘Distributions of non-cash assets to owners’, effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2009. This is not 
currently applicable to the Bank, as it has not made any non-cash distributions.

•	 IFRIC 18, ‘Transfers of assets from customers’, effective for transfer of assets received on or after 1 July 2009. This is not relevant 
to the Bank, as it has not received any assets from customers.

•	 IFRIC 19 ‘Extinguishing financial liabilities with equity instruments’.

•	 ‘Additional exemptions for first-time adopters’ (Amendment to IFRS 1) was issued in July 2009. The amendments are required to 
be applied for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2010.

•	 Improvements to International Financial Reporting Standards 2009 were issued in April 2009. The effective dates vary standard 
by standard but most are effective 1 January 2010.

The Bank has not early adopted the following standards, amendments and interpretations, which are not yet effective, or translated in 
the Federation of Bosnia and Herzegovina:

•	 IFRS 9, ‘Financial instruments’, issued in December 2009. This addresses the classification and measurement of financial assets 
and is likely to affect the Bank’s accounting for its financial assets. The standard is not applicable until 1 January 2013 but is 
available for early adoption. The Bank has not yet decided when to adopt IFRS 9.

•	 Revised IAS 24, ‘Related party disclosures’, issued in November 2009. It supersedes IAS 24, ‘Related party disclosures’, issued 
in 2003. The revised IAS 24 is required to be applied from 1 January 2011. Earlier application, in whole or in part, is permitted.

•	 ‘Classification of rights issues’ (Amendment to IAS 32), issued in October 2009. For rights issues offered for a fixed amount of 
foreign currency, current practice appears to require such issues to be accounted for as derivative liabilities. The amendment states 
that if such rights are issued pro rata to all the entity’s existing shareholders in the same class for a fixed amount of currency, they 
should be classified as equity regardless of the currency in which the exercise price is denominated. The amendment should be 
applied for annual periods beginning on or after 1 February 2010. Earlier application is permitted.

•	 ‘Prepayments of a minimum funding requirement’ (Amendments to IFRIC 14), issued in November 2009. The amendments correct 
an unintended consequence of IFRIC 14, ‘IAS 19 – The limit on a defined benefit asset, minimum funding requirements and 
their interaction’. Without the amendments, entities are not permitted to recognise as an asset some voluntary prepayments for 
minimum funding contributions. This was not intended when IFRIC 14 was issued, and the amendments correct the problem.

The amendments are effective for annual periods beginning 1 January 2011. Earlier application is permitted. The amendments should 
be applied retrospectively to the earliest comparative period presented.

•	 IFRIC 19, ‘Extinguishing financial liabilities with equity instruments’. This clarifies the requirements of IFRSs when an entity 
renegotiates the terms of a financial liability with its creditor and the creditor agrees to accept the entity’s shares or other equity 
instruments to settle the financial liability fully or partially. The interpretation is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 
1 July 2010. Earlier application is permitted.

•	 Improvements to International Financial Reporting Standards 2010 were issued in May 2010. The effective dates vary standard by 
standard but most are effective 1 January 2010.
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2. BASIS FOR PREPARATION AND PRESENTATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

The preparation of financial statements under IFRS requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also requires the 
management to exercise its judgement in the process of applying the Bank’s accounting policies.

The principal accounting policies used in the preparation of the financial statements are summarised below. 

(b) Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements are measured using the currency of the primary economic environment in which the Bank 
operates (‘the functional currency’).

The financial statements are presented in Bosnian Convertible Marks (“BAM”), which is the functional currency. Amounts are rounded 
to the nearest thousand (unless otherwise stated).

The Central Bank of Bosnia and Herzegovina (“CBBH”) implemented a currency board arrangement aligning BAM to EURO at an exchange 
rate of EUR 1: BAM 1.95583 throughout 2010 and 2009. This is expected to continue in the foreseeable future.

(c) Basis of measurement 

The financial statements are prepared under historical cost convention except for loans, receivables and borrowings which are presented 
at amortised cost and available for sale financial assets which are presented at fair value.

(d) Use of estimate and judgements 

In preparing the financial statements, management has made judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of 
policies and reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosures of commitments and contingencies at the balance sheet date, as 
well as amounts of income and expense for the period. The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience 
and various other factors that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances and information available at the date of the 
preparation of the financial statements, the result of which form the basis of making the judgements about carrying amounts of assets 
and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the 
period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period or in the period of revision and future periods if the revision 
affects both current and future periods.

Judgements made by management in the application of applicable standards that have significant effects on the financial statements 
and estimates with a significant risk of material adjustment in the next year are discussed in Note 5.

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(a) Foreign currency transactions 

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of transactions. 
Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the translation at year-end exchange 
rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in the statement of income. Non-monetary 
assets and items that are measured in terms of historical cost in foreign currency are translated using the exchange rate at the date of 
the transaction and are not retranslated at the reporting date.

31 December 2010 
BAM 

31 December 2009 
BAM

EUR 1 1.95583 1.95583

USD 1 1.472764 1.364088
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(b) Interest income and expense

Interest income and expense for all interest-bearing financial instruments are recognised within interest income and interest expense 
in the income statement.

Interest income and expense are accounted for on an accrual basis. Loan origination fees are deferred and amortized over the life of 
the loan using the effective interest rate method.

(c) Fee and commission income and expense 

Fee and commission income except for loan origination fees are recognized in full when earned.

Commission and fee income comprises mainly fees receivable from customers for guarantees, letters of credit, domestic and foreign 
payments, card business and other services provided by the Bank, where the fee is credited to income when the related service is 
performed.

(d) Dividend income

Dividend income from equity securities is recognised in profit or loss when the rights to receive the dividend are established.

(e) Lease payments

Payments made under operating leases are recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease.

(f) Income tax

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred tax. The tax expense is based on taxable income for 
the year. Taxable income differs from net income as reported in profit or loss because it excludes items of income or expense that are 
taxable or deductible in other years and it further excludes items that are never taxable or deductible. The Bank’s liability for current 
tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date.

Deferred tax is the tax expected to be payable or recoverable on differences between the carrying amount of assets and liabilities in the 
financial statements and the corresponding tax basis used in the computation of taxable profit, and is accounted for using the balance 
sheet liability method. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognized for all taxable temporary differences and deferred tax assets are 
recognized to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available against which deductible temporary differences can be 
utilized. The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each reporting date and reduced to the extent that it is no longer 
probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered. Deferred tax is calculated at the 
tax rates that are expected to apply in the period when the liability is settled or the asset realized. Deferred tax is charged or credited 
in the income statement, except when it relates to items charged or credited directly to equity, in which case the deferred tax is also 
dealt with in equity.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when they relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority and the Bank has 
the ability and intention to settle on a net basis. 

The Bank did not recognise any deferred tax assets or liabilities as of the reporting date.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(g) Financial instruments

Classification

The Bank classifies its financial instruments in the following categories: loans and receivables, financial assets at fair value through 
profit or loss, available-for-sale financial assets, held to maturity investments and other financial liabilities. The classification depends 
on the purpose for which the financial assets and liabilities were acquired. The management determines the classification of financial 
assets and liabilities upon initial recognition and re-evaluates this classification at every reporting date. At the balance sheet date the 
Bank did not have held-to-maturity investments or financial assets at fair value through profit and loss.

(i) Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market. 
Loans and receivables arise when the Bank provides money to a debtor with no intention of trading with the receivable and include 
placements with and loans and advances to other banks, loans and advances to customers and balances with the central bank.

(ii) Available for sale financial assets (AFS) 

Financial assets available for sale are all other assets that are not classified in any other groups.

Financial assets available for sale can be reclassified as assets held to maturity if there is a proof that Bank intends and is capable of 
holding to an asset to maturity date.

(iii) Other financial liabilities

Other financial liabilities comprise all financial liabilities.

Recognition

Loans and receivables and other financial liabilities are recognised when advanced to borrowers or received from lenders.

Initial and subsequent measurement

Financial instruments are measured initially at the fair value of the consideration given.

Loans and receivables and other financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised cost.

Financial assets available for sale are initially recognized at cost. These assets are subsequently measured at fair value and difference 
is recognized as revaluation reserve in equity.

Derecognition

The Bank derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire; or it transfers the 
financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity. If the Bank neither transfers 
nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership and continues to control the transferred asset, the Bank continues to 
recognise the financial asset.

In case of derecognition of assets available for sale, the cumulative gain or loss previously recognized in equity is transferred to 
statement of income.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when they have been redeemed or otherwise extinguished. If the terms of a financial liability 
change, the Bank will cease recognising that liability and will instantaneously recognise a new financial liability, with new terms and 
conditions.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Impairment of financial assets

a) Loans and receivables

The calculation of provisions for potential losses, contingent liabilities and write-offs is done based on the Decision on minimum 
standards of credit risk management and bank assets classification (Official Gazette of the Federation of Bosnia and Herzegovina no. 
03/03) of FBA. The provision calculated in accordance with Banking FBA decision is significantly different from the provision which 
would be calculated in accordance with IAS 39.

The Bank is obliged to review financial assets at each balance sheet date to determine whether there is objective evidence of impairment.  
If any such indication exists, the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated.

Loans and advances are presented net of impairment provisions. Specific impairment provisions are made against the carrying amount 
of loans and advances that are identified as being impaired based on regular reviews of outstanding balances.

Impaired financial assets are graded into categories according to their deemed recoverability, which is based on the level of overdue 
receivables, on an assessment of the borrower’s financial position, and on the quality of any collateral secured. Provisions are then 
determined by applying provisioning rates, within the range prescribed by the Agency, to the principal amount outstanding.

An increase in impairment provisions is recognised in the income statement. 

As of 31 December 2010 and 31 December 2009 the provision for potential losses was created applying the following percentages:

2010. 2009.

Performing assets (A) 2% 2%

Special-mention assets (B) 5%-15% 5%-15%

Substandard assets (C) 16%-40% 16%-40%

Doubtful assets (D) 41%-60% 41%-60%

Loss (E) 100% 100%

When a loan is known to be uncollectible, all the necessary legal procedures have been completed, and the final loss has been 
determined, the loan is written off directly. If in a subsequent period the amount of impairment loss decreases and the decrease can 
be linked objectively to an event occurring after the write down, the write-down or provision is reversed through the income statement.

The Bank’s management enacts a decision with reference to the write-off of receivables in accordance with court decisions, based on 
a mutual agreement between parties concerned or as decided by the Supervisory Board.

b) Financial assets carried at cost 

These include equity securities for which there is no reliable fair value. The Bank assesses at each balance sheet date whether there is 
objective evidence that a financial asset or a group of financial assets is impaired.

An impairment loss is calculated as the difference between the carrying amount of the financial asset and the present value of expected 
future cash receipts discounted by the current market interest rate for similar financial assets. Impairment losses on such instruments, 
recognised in the income statement, are not subsequently reversed through the income statement.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

c) Financial assets available for sale

The Bank has to assess if there is objective evidence that financial assets available for sale are impaired. When a decline in the fair 
value of an available for sale financial assets determines that these financial assets are impaired, the cumulative loss that has been 
recognized directly in equity shall be removed from equity and recognised in profit or loss. Impairment losses recognized in profit or 
loss for an investment in an equity instrument recognized as available for sale shall not be reversed through profit or loss. For debt 
instruments the impairment loss shall be reversed through profit or loss.

Other fair value changes are recognised in other comprehensive income until the investment is sold or impaired, whereupon the 
cumulative gains and losses previously recognised in other comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss as a reclassification 
adjustment.

Specific financial instruments

(i) Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash balances on hand, cash deposited with the central bank, current accounts with other banks 
and items in the course of collection.

(ii) Placements with, and loans and advances to banks and other financial institutions

Loans and advances to banks are classified as loans and receivables and are carried at amortised cost less impairment allowances.

(iii) Loans and advances to customers

Loans and advances to customers are presented at amortised cost net of impairment allowances to reflect the estimated recoverable 
amounts.

(iv) Equity securities

Equity securities are stated at cost less impairment allowances.

(v) Debt securities

Debt securities are stated at fair value less impairment allowances.

(vi) Borrowings 

Interest-bearing borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, less attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, 
interest bearing borrowings are stated at amortised cost with any difference between proceeds (net of transaction costs) and redemption 
value being recognised in the income statement over the period of the borrowings on an effective interest basis.

(vii) Current accounts and deposits from banks and customers

Current accounts and deposits are classified as other liabilities and initially measured at fair value plus transaction costs, and 
subsequently stated at their amortised cost using the effective interest method.

(h) Property and equipment 

Property and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses. Cost includes the 
purchase price and directly associated cost of bringing the asset to a working condition for its intended use. Maintenance and repairs, 
replacements and improvements of minor importance are expensed as incurred. Significant improvements and replacement of assets 
are capitalised. Gains or losses on the retirement or disposal are included in the statement of income in the period they occur.

Properties in the course of construction are carried at cost, less impairment loss, if any. Depreciation commences when the assets 
are ready for their intended use.



59Annual Report 2010

Sparkasse bank d.d. 
Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2010

(All amounts are expressed in BAM thousand unless otherwise stated) 

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Estimated useful life were as follows:

2010. 2009.

Buildings 33-77 years 33-77 years

Computers 3 years 3 years

Vehicles 5 years 5 years

Furniture and other office equipment 5-7 years 5-7 years

The gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an asset is determined as the difference between the sales proceeds and the 
carrying amount of the asset and is recognized in profit or loss.

Depreciation method and useful lives are reassessed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each reporting date. 

(i) Investment property

Investment property, which is property held to earn rental income and/or for capital appreciation, is measured at its cost, including 
transaction costs. Depreciation commences when the assets are ready for their intended use. Depreciation is calculated based on the 
estimated useful lives of those assets, that is 77 years for buildings.

When the use of a property changes such that it is reclassified as property and equipment, its fair value at the date of reclassification 
becomes its cost for subsequent accounting.

Investment property held under an operating lease is recognised in the Bank’s statement of financial position at its fair value.

(j) Leased assets – leases

Where the Bank is the lessor

A lease is defined as being an agreement whereby the lessor conveys to the lessee in return for a payment, or series of payments, the 
right to use an asset for an agreed period of time. A lease may be classified as a finance or an operating lease.

Finance leases are leases where substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of an asset are transferred to the lessee. Operating 
leases are all leases other than finance leases. 

In operating lease the Bank recognises the assets which are under the operating lease in its balance sheet according to the nature 
of the asset. Income from operating lease is recognised in income on a straight-line basis over the lease term. Costs, including 
depreciation, incurred for earning the lease income, are recognised as an expense. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and 
arranging an operating lease are added to the carrying amounts of the leased asset and recognised as an expense over the lease term 
on the same basis as the lease income. The depreciation policy for depreciable leased assets is consistent with the regular depreciation 
policy of the Bank for similar assets.

Other leases are operating leases and, except for investment property, the leased assets are not recognised in the Bank’s statement 
of financial position.

Where the Bank is the lessee

The Bank leases certain property, plant and equipment. Leases of property, plant and equipment, where the Bank has substantially all 
the risks and rewards of ownership, are classified as finance leases. The Bank has no finance leases.

Leases where the significant portion of risks and rewards of ownership are not retained by the Bank are classified as operating leases. 
Payments made under operating leases are charged to the income statement on a straight-line basis over the period of the lease. 
Please refer to Note 37 for commitments under operating leases.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(k) Intangible assets

Intangible assets that are acquired by the Bank, which have finite useful lives, are measured at cost less accumulated amortisation 
and accumulated impairment losses.

Subsequent expenditure is capitalised only when it increases the future economic benefits embodied in the specific asset to which it 
relates. All other expenditure, including expenditure on internally generated goodwill and brands, is recognised in profit or loss when 
incurred.

Amortisation is recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of intangible assets, from the date 
that they are available for use. The estimated useful lives are 5 years (20%).

Impairment of non-financial assets

Assets that are subject to amortisation are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the 
carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount 
exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in use. For 
the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable cash flows 
(cash-generating units). Non-financial assets that suffered impairment are reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment at each 
reporting date.

As of 31 December 2010, the Bank did not identify any impairment indicators and no impairment of non-financial assets was recorded.

(l) Employee benefits

Short term benefits 

The Bank pays pension and health insurance on behalf of its employees, which are calculated on the gross salary paid, as well as 
taxes on salaries, which are calculated on the net salary paid. The Bank pays the above contributions into the Federal Pension and 
Health fund, according to statutory rates during the course of the year. In addition, meal allowances, transport allowances and vacation 
bonuses are paid in accordance with local legislation. These expenses are recorded in the income statement in the period in which the 
obligation arises.

Obligations for contributions to defined contribution pension plans are recognised as an expense in the income statement as incurred.

Long-term benefits: retirement severance payments and early retirement bonuses

The Bank pays to its employees retirement severance benefits upon retirement in an amount representing three times the average 
salary in the FBiH as calculated by the Federal Bureau of Statistics or three times the salary of the employee in question (depending of 
what is more favourable to the employee).

The cost of providing benefits is determined using the projected unit credit method. The project unit credit method considers each 
period of service giving rise to an additional unit of benefit entitlement and measures each unit separately to build up the final 
obligation. The obligation is measured at the present value of estimated future cash flows using a discount rate of 7% per annum that is 
similar to the estimated interest rate on government bonds, where the currency and terms of the government bonds would be consistent 
with the currency and estimated terms of the benefit obligation. At the balance sheet date Government of Bosnia and Herzegovina does 
not have any issued bonds, therefore the Bank uses the average interest rate for long-term deposits.
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(m) Provisions 

Provisions are recognised when the Bank has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events, it is probable that 
an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate of the amount 
of the obligation can be made, or as required by law in the case of provisions for unidentified impairment of off-balance-sheet credit 
risk exposures.

Provisions for liabilities and charges are maintained at the level that the Bank’s management considers sufficient for absorption of 
incurred losses. The management determines the sufficiency of provisions on the basis of insight into specific items, current economic 
circumstances, risk characteristics of certain transaction categories, as well as other relevant factors.

Provisions are released only for such expenditure in respect of which provisions are recognised at inception. If the outflow of economic 
benefits to settle the obligations is no longer probable, the provision is reversed.

(n) Share capital 

Share capital

Share capital comprises ordinary shares and is stated in BAM at nominal value.  Any profit for the year after appropriations is transferred 
to reserves.

Dividends 

Dividends on ordinary shares are recognised as a liability in the period in which they are approved by the Bank’s shareholders.

(o) Statutory reserve

A statutory reserve has been created in accordance with company law of FBiH, which requires 10% of the profit for the year to be 
transferred to this reserve until statutory reserves reach 25% of issued share capital. If the statutory reserves do not reach 25% of 
issued share capital within 5 business years, a public limited company is required to increase its transfer to this reserve to 20% of its 
profit for the year at the end of the fifth and any following business year until capital reserves reach 25% of issued share capital. The 
legal reserve can be used for covering current and prior year losses. 

(p) Off-balance sheet commitments and contingent liabilities

In the ordinary course of business, the Bank enters into credit-related commitments which are recorded in off-balance-sheet accounts 
and primarily comprise guarantees, letters of credit and undrawn loan commitments. Such financial commitments are recorded in the 
Bank’s balance sheet if and when they become payable.

(q) Managed funds for and on behalf of third parties 

The Bank manages funds for and on behalf of corporate and retail clients. These amounts do not represent the Bank’s assets and are 
excluded from the balance sheet. For the services rendered the Bank charges a fee.

(r) Comparative information

Certain amounts in the previous year financial statements have been reclassified to conform to the current year presentation.
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4. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Bank’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: credit risk, liquidity risk and market risk. Market risk includes currency 
risk, interest rate and other price risk. The Bank has established an integrated system of risk management by introducing a set of 
policies and procedures for analysis, evaluation, acceptance and risk management. Taking risk is core to the financial business, and 
the operational risks are an inevitable consequence of being in business.

The Management Board has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the Bank’s risk management framework. 

The Management board has established the Asset and Liability committee (ALCO) and Credit committee, while Operational risks 
are monitored in the Risk controlling and monitoring department, which are responsible for developing and monitoring Bank risk 
management policies in their specified areas.

Risk-steering and risk-controlling processes are adjusted in a timely manner to reflect changes in the operating environment.

The Audit Committee is responsible for monitoring compliance with the Bank’s risk management policies and procedures, and for 
reviewing the adequacy of the risk management framework in relation to the risks faced by the Bank. The Audit Committee is assisted 
in these functions by Internal Audit. Internal Audit undertakes both regular and ad-hoc reviews of risk management controls and 
procedures, the result of which are reported to the Audit Committee.

4.1. Credit risk

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its contractual obligations resulting in financial loss to the Bank. The 
Bank has adopted a policy of only dealing with creditworthy counterparties and obtaining sufficient collateral, where appropriate, as a 
means of mitigating the risk of financial loss from defaults.   

4.1.1. Risk limit control and mitigation policies

The Bank’s exposure and the credit ratings of its counterparties are continuously monitored and the aggregate value of transactions 
concluded is spread amongst approved counterparties. Credit exposure is controlled by counterparty limits that are reviewed and 
approved by the risk management committee annually. Exposures to credit risk are also managed in part by obtaining collateral and 
corporate and personal guarantees.

The Bank does not have any significant credit risk exposure to any single counterparty or any group of counterparties having similar 
characteristics. The Bank defines counterparties as having similar characteristics if they are related entities. Risk-steering and risk-
controlling processes are adjusted in a timely manner to reflect changes in the operating environment. 

The Bank’s exposure to credit risk relates to the following assets and liabilities:

1. Balance sheet

•	 loans,

•	 borrowings,

•	 overdraft, 

•	 advances, investments,

•	 securities portfolio,

•	 debt securities

•	 receivables from interbank balances,

•	 and all other items which expose the Bank to the risk of uncollectability, that is, business failure.
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2. Bank’s off balance sheet

•	 guarantees,

•	 other warranties,

•	 letters of credit,

•	 loan commitments and all other items which represent the Bank’s contingent liabilities.

The Bank is not exposed to credit risk related to the following assets:

•	 cash,

•	 funds held at the current account with the Central Bank of Bosnia and Herzegovina,

•	 funds held at the current accounts with foreign banks with investment ranking,

•	 investments or investment and contingent liabilities parts which are collateralized by cash deposit at our Bank, on the condition 
that it is regulated by the contract that until the collection of Bank receivables or the ceasing of Bank’s contingent liability cash 
deposit as a collateral is linked to a specific credit-guarantee work.

The Bank performs regular formal asset reviews, separately for each client, and credit risk estimation is performed on a monthly basis 
based on the following criteria:

1. client’s regularity in settlement of obligations

2. estimation of client’s business, including financial and capital strength,

3. estimation of client’s business position within economic branch,

4. management estimation,

5. quality of business relations with the client,

6. estimation of quality and viability of insurance instruments for receivables collectability.

4.1.2. Credit risk management and impairment and provision policies

In accordance with the “Decision regulating minimum standards for credit risk management and bank assets classifications” (“the 
Decision”) of the Agency, loans and advances and risk-bearing off- balance-sheet items are classified into the following categories with 
the following rates of impairment:  

Overdue days Bank’s rating
Provisioning rates prescribed 

by the Agency

0-30 A 2%

31-90 B 5% - 15%

91-180 C 16% - 40%

180-270 D 41% - 60%

271 and more E 100%
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The classification of loan and receivables and risk-bearing off-balance-sheet items is made in accordance with the Decision. Besides 
the level of overdue receivables, the assessment of impairment normally encompasses collateral held (including re-confirmation of 
its enforceability) and the anticipated receipts for that individual account. “A” category loans and receivables are treated as assets 
not specifically identified as impaired (performing assets), while other categories are treated as individually impaired (non-performing 
assets).

Collateral

With a view to minimising credit risk, the Bank has a rulebook for security of loans and other placements and secures its credit 
exposures by taking one or more of the following instruments:

•	 cash,

•	 guarantors (retail and corporate),

•	 mortgages over properties,

•	 mortgage over movables,

•	 other rights over receivables.

The fair value of real estate and other assets charged as collateral is estimated by independent, external surveyor. 

4.1.3. Maximum credit risk exposure

The following table presents maximum credit risk exposure for balance and off-balance sheet items. Maximum exposure is presented 
at gross value, net of impairment allowances and collateral values:

Maximum exposure

2010. 2009.

Risk bearing balance sheet items:

Placements with and loans and advances with other banks 152,433 135,826

Loans and advances to corporate and SME customers 110,837 63,857

Loans and advances to retail customers 195,929 114,694

Financial assets available for sale 11,021 254

Other financial assets 1,565 1,332

Subtotal 471,785 315,963

Risk bearing off-balance sheet items:

Loan commitments 38,807 33,805

Financial guarantees and letter of credits 27,393 32,044

Subtotal 66,200 65,849

Total 537,985 381,812

For balance-sheet items, the exposures set out above are based on net carrying amounts as reported at the reporting date.The Bank 
holds collateral against loans and advances to customers in the form of mortgage interest over property, other security over assets 
and guarantees. Estimates of collateral value are based on the value assessed by chartered court surveyors at the time of borrowing 
which is then reduced by a fixed percentage depending on the type of collateral (40-50% for residential properties, 33-50% for business 
premises and 25-40% for equipment). Estimated value of collateral is updated in accordance with internal procedure for collateral 
revaluation on an annual basis.
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The table below shows the gross amount of assets subjects to credit risk treated as performing and non performing, together with the 
related amount of impairment allowances.

Performing  
assets-gross

Impairment 
allowance

Non performing 
asset-gross

Impairment 
allowance

Total  
gross

Total 
 impairment

31 December 2010

Placements with and loans and advances with other banks 152,537 (104) - - 152,537 (104)

Obligatory reserve with the central bank 43,764 - - - 43,764 -

Loans and advances to retail customers 222,342 (4,443) 7,907 (1,017) 230,249 (5,869)

Loans and advances to corporate customers 248,393 (4,886) 44,438 (7,796) 292,831 (14,361)

AFS 11,246 (225) - - 11,246 (225)

Other financial assets 1,575 (58) 74 (26) 1,649 (84)

Total 679,857 (9,716) 52,419 (8,839) 732,276 (20,643)

31 December 2009

Placements with and loans and advances with other banks 135,865 (39) - - 135,865 (39)

Obligatory reserve with the central bank 39,703 - - - 39,703 -

Loans and advances to retail customers 130,878 (2,623) 8,145 (1,136) 139,023 (3,759)

Loans and advances to corporate customers 257,219 (5,087) 40,111 (7,257) 297,330 (12,344)

AFS 259 (5) - - 259 (5)

Other financial assets 699 (11) 716 (72) 1,415 (83)

Total 564,623 (7,765) 48,972 (8,465) 613,595 (16,230)
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4.1.4. Concentration of risk of loans and advances to customers

The Bank monitors concentrations of credit risk by economic sector and by geographic location. The economic sector risk concentration 
by gross value of on balance sheet exposure is as follows: 

Gross maximum 
exposure 2010

Gross maximum 
exposure 2009

Wholesale and retail trade 117,281 109,072

Manufacture 87,924 102,458

Real estate, renting and business activities 19,654 15,664

Transport, storage and communication 17,764 12,579

Construction 17,596 25,814

Financial intermediation 8,530 6,660

Hotels and restaurants 6,042 4,427

Agriculture, hunting and forestry 5,063 2,646

Education 4,248 4,706

Health and social work 2,056 1,966

Public Administration 1,890 2,347

Mining and quarrying 1,451 3,753

Electricity, gas and water supply 438 428

Fishing - 1

Other 2,894 4,809

Retail 230,249 139,023

TOTAL 523,080 436,353

Geographic risk concentrations of credit risk exposures mainly relate to the region of the Bosnia and Herzegovina. The geographic risk 
concentration presented by gross value for balance sheet exposures is as follows:

Bosnia and 
Herzegovina

OECD 
Countries

Non-OECD 
Countries Total

Placements with and loans and advances with other banks 5,280 110,475 36,782 152,537

Loans and advances to retail customers 230,249 - - 230,249

Loans and advances to corporate customers 292,831 - - 292,831

Financial investments available for sale 651 24 10,571 11,246

Other financial assets 1,649 - - 1,649

31 December 2010 530,660 110,499 47,353 688,512
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Bosnia and 
Herzegovina

OECD 
Countries

Non-OECD 
Countries Total

Placements with and loans and advances with other banks 1,957 108,443 25,465 135,865

Loans and advances to retail customers 139,023 - - 139,023

Loans and advances to corporate customers 297,330 - - 297,330

Financial investments available for sale 235 24 - 259

Other financial assets 1,415 - - 1,415

31 December 2009 439,960 108,467 25,465 573,892

Structure of the loan portfolio is regularly reviewed within the Risk Department and Credit Risk Committee in order to identify potential 
events which could have an impact on significant portions of the loan portfolio (common risk factors) and if necessary limit the exposure 
toward certain sectors of the economy. 

4.1.5. Reprograms and restructuring

Renegotiated asset is an asset which is restructured, reprogrammed or converted in any other way, that is, an asset whose, due to 
user’s changed terms and payment abilities, that is his inability to pay in accordance with initially agreed plan or because of changed (to 
less) current market rate, previously agreed deadlines (deadline or payment plan) and/or other conditions are subsequently changed 
so that the Bank could enable easier debt servicing for the debtor (and safer for the Bank).

Restructured problematic assets are assets when the Bank grants one or more rebates and concessions to the debtor with financial 
difficulties. Concessions and rebates include:

a) taking other assets, that is debtor’s property as total or partial collection of Bank’s receivables,

b) extending the deadline for principal receivable and/or interest,

c) reduction of receivables interest rate,

d) reduction of debt, principal mature receivable and /or interest,

e) other similar concessions.

In 2010 the Bank reprogrammed and restructured 112 problematic clients (97 corporate and 15 retail) with total amount of BAM 
21,316 thousand (in 2009: BAM 11,190 thousand).
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4.1.6. Aging analysis of loans and advances

The following table presents quality of investments by type of assets which are recorded in the balance sheet:

Neither past due nor impaired

High level of 
quality 

Standard level of 
quality 

Past due and 
impaired 

Collective 
impairment

Specific
 impairment Total

31 December 2010

Loans and advances to banks 110,476 42,061 - (104) - 152,433

Loans and advances to corporate 1,584 246,809 44,438 (4,886) (9,475) 278,470

Loans and advances to retail 1,064 221,278 7,907 (4,443) (1,426) 224,380

TOTAL 113,124 510,148 52,345 (9,433) (10,901) 655,283

31 December 2009

Loans and advances to banks 108,467 27,398 - (39) - 135,826

Loans and advances to corporate 1,450 255,769 40,111 (5,087) (7,257) 284,986

Loans and advances to retail 899 129,979 8,145 (2,623) (1,136) 135,264

TOTAL 110,816 413,146 48,256 (7,749) (8,393) 556,076

The following table presents the value of loans and advances to retail and corporate, at gross value with the value of collateral values:

Retail Corporate Total

31 December 2010

Gross investments 230,249 292,831 523,080

Collateral value 28,439 173,599 202,038

31 December 2009

Gross investments 139,023 297,330 436,353

Collateral value 21,185 220,887 242,072

The Bank has the possibility to collect receivables by overtaking collaterals. These assets are usually not used for business purposes 
but are sold and in that way the Bank settles part or total amount of its receivables.

Total amount of repossessed assets in 2010 is BAM 451 thousand (2009: BAM 1,532 thousand).
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4.1.7. Aging analysis of neither past due nor impaired assets

The following table presents aging analysis of past due and not impaired balance sheet items (“high level of quality”), at gross value, 
excluding any type of collateral.

Up to 30 days
From 

 31 to 60 days
From  

61 to 90 days
More than 

 91 days Total

31 December 2010

Loans and advances to banks 110,476 - - - 110,476

Loans and advances to retail 1,012 50 2 - 1,064

Loans and advances to corporate 1,407 177 - - 1,584

TOTAL 112,895 227 2 - 113,124

Fair value of collateral 112,895 227 2 - 113,124

31 December 2009

Loans and advances to banks 108,467 - - - 108,467

Loans and advances to retail 1,450 - - - 1,450

Loans and advances to corporate 899 - - - 899

TOTAL 110,816 - - - 110,816

Fair value of collateral 110,816 - - - 110,816

4.1.8. Past due and impaired assets

The following table presents aging analysis of past due and impaired balance sheet items, with specific impairment allowances:

Retail
Retail 

Impairment Total Retail Corporate
Corporate 

Impairment Total Corporate Total

31 December 2010

B 4,412 (409) 4,003 23,554 (1,680) 21,874 25,877

C 2,523 (505) 2,018 12,055 (2,760) 9,295 11,313

D 972 (512) 460 8,829 (5,035) 3,794 4,254

7,907 (1,426) 6,481 44,438 (9,475) 34,963 41,444

31 December 2009

B 5,229 (426) 4,803 25,263 (1,859) 23,404 28,207

C 2,520 (502) 2,018 11,291 (3,301) 7,990 10,008

D 396 (208) 188 3,557 (2,097) 1,460 1,648

8,145 (1,136) 7,009 40,111 (7,257) 32,854 39,863
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4.2 Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk arises in the funding of the Bank’s activities and in the management of its positions. The Bank consolidates its operations 
in respect of liquidity risk in accordance with applicable decrees and internal policies aimed at maintenance of liquidity reserves, and 
harmonization of assets and liabilities with targeted liquidity indicators and liquidity limits.

The Bank has access to various funding sources, including different types of deposits from citizens and legal entities, borrowings and 
share capital. This increases the flexibility of funding sources, decreases dependence on one source and generally ensures better 
management of financing cost.

The Bank strives to maintain a balance between continuity of funding and flexibility through the use of liabilities with a range of 
maturities. The Bank continually assesses liquidity risk by identifying and monitoring changes in funding required to meet business 
goals and targets. In addition, the Bank holds a portfolio of liquid assets as part of its liquidity risk management strategy.

The table below analyses the Bank’s non-derivative financial liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining period 
at the balance sheet date to the contractual maturity dates. The amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual undiscounted cash 
flows.

Up to 1 month 1 - 3 months 3 - 12 months 1 -5 years Over 5 years Total

31 December 2010

Liabilities

Current accounts and deposits from banks 19,181 - 50,661 10,553 203,896 284,291

Current accounts and deposits from customers 162,489 22,335 83,977 65,248 2,080 336,129

Borrowings 95,011 50 145 130 92 95,428

Other financial liabilities 2,747 76 276 240 645 3,984

Total liabilities 279,428 22,461 135,059 76,171 206,713 719,832

Assets held for managing liquidity risk 265,124 47,111 172,274 281,320 91,582 857,411

Liquidity gap (assets – liabilities) (14,304) 24,650 37,215 205,149 (115,131) 137,579

31 December 2009

Liabilities

Current accounts and deposits from banks 1,801 - - - 186,212 188,013

Current accounts and deposits from customers 113,606 11,048 90,775 78,322 1,295 295,046

Borrowings 115,957 139 139 139 257 116,631

Other financial liabilities 1,557 45 365 304 694 2,965

Total liabilities 232,921 11,232 91,279 78,765 188,458 602,655

Assets held for managing liquidity risk 244,714 38,504 153,612 237,041 65,483 739,354

Liquidity gap (assets – liabilities) 11,793 27,272 62,333 158,276 (122,975) 136,699

Assets held for managing liquidity risk

The Bank holds assets to support payment obligations and contingent funding in a stressed market environment, these include cash 
and cash equivalents, deposits, loan receivables and other financial assets.
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4.3. Market risk 

The Bank takes on exposure to market risks, which is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will 
fluctuate because of changes in market prices. Market risks arise from open positions in interest rate, foreign currency and equity 
products, all of which are exposed to general and specific market movements and changes in the level of volatility of market rates or 
prices such as interest rates, credit spreads, foreign exchange rates and equity prices. 

The Management Board sets limits and guidelines for monitoring and mitigating market risks, which is regularly monitored by ALCO 
Committee.

4.4. Foreign exchange risk 

Exposure to currency risk arises from credit, deposit-taking and trading activities and is controlled on a daily basis in accordance with 
legal and internal limits for each currency, as well as in total amounts for assets and liabilities denominated in or linked to foreign 
currencies. Treasury department is responsible for daily management of the Bank’s currency position in accordance with legal and 
internal regulations. In order to manage foreign exchange rate risk more efficiently, the Bank monitors economic and other business 
changes in the environment in order to predict possible changes in foreign currency activities, exchange rates, currencies and risk. 

The table below summarizes the Bank’s exposure to foreign currency exchange rate risk at 31 December 2010.

Concentrations of currency risk of assets and liabilities 

The Bank had the following significant currency positions:

31 December 2010 BAM EUR USD Other currencies Total

Assets

Cash reserves 19,264 5,860 422 2,102 27,648

Obligatory reserves with the central bank 43,764 - - - 43,764

Placements with and  loans and advances to other 
banks 5,121 141,232 5,524 556 152,433

Loans and advances to customers 118,223 384,627 - - 502,850

Financial assets available for sale 616 10,405 - - 11,021

Other financial assets 1,453 108 4 - 1,565

Total assets 188,441 542,232 5,950 2,658 739,281

Liabilities

Current accounts and deposits from banks 292 265,041 - - 265,333

Current accounts and deposits from customers 187,362 132,584 6,007 2,292 328,245

Borrowings 306 94,492 - - 94,798

Other financial liabilities 3,548 435 - 1 3,984

Total liabilities 191,508 492,552 6,007 2,293 692,360

Net foreign currency position (3,067) 49,680 (57) 365 46,921
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31 December 2009 BAM EUR USD Other currencies Total

Assets

Cash reserves 33,831 8,834 334 1,766 44,765

Obligatory reserves with the central bank 39,703 - - - 39,703

Placements with and loans and advances to other 
banks - 134,298 1,528 - 135,826

Loans and advances to customers 92,101 328,149 - - 420,250

Financial assets available for sale 230 24 - - 254

Other financial assets 1,197 134 - 1 1,332

Total assets 167,062 471,439 1,862 1,767 642,130

Liabilities

Current accounts and deposits from banks 1,025 168,576 - - 169,601

Current accounts and deposits from customers 150,460 131,710 1,876 1,430 285,476

Borrowings 694 114,451 115,145

Other financial liabilities 2,965 - - - 2,965

Total liabilities 155,144 414,737 1,876 1,430 573,187

Net foreign currency position 11,918 56,702 (14) 337 68,943

Foreign currency sensitivity analysis

The Bank is mainly exposed to EUR, USD and other currencies. Since Convertible Mark (BAM) is pegged to EUR, the Bank is not exposed 
to risk of change of EUR exchange rate.

The following table details the Bank’s sensitivity to a 10% increase and decrease in BAM against USD and other currencies. 10% is 
the sensitivity rate used when reporting foreign currency risk internally to key management personnel and represents management’s 
assessment of the reasonably possible change in foreign exchange rates. The sensitivity analysis includes only outstanding foreign 
currency denominated monetary items and adjusts their translation at the period end for a 10% change in currencies. The sensitivity 
analysis includes external loans where the currency is other than EUR or BAM. A negative number below indicates a decrease in profit 
where BAM strengthens 10% against USD and against other currencies or a 10% weakening of BAM against USD and against other 
currencies, there would be an equal and opposite impact on the profit, and the balances below would be positive.

USD and other currencies impact

2010. 2009.

Profit or loss 31 32
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4. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

4.5. Interest rate risk 

The Bank’s activities are affected by changes in interest rates in that interest-bearing assets and liabilities mature, or their interest 
rates are changed, at different times or in different amounts.

The majority of loans and receivables to companies and individuals and deposits from companies and individuals are initially contracted 
at an interest rate that allows the Bank to vary the interest rate at the Management Board’s decision. These financial instruments are 
classified as instruments that bear variable interest rates. The Management Board changes these interest rates in response to changes 
in the prevailing market rates.

Interest sensitivity of assets and liabilities 

The tables below summarize the Bank’s exposure to interest rate risks at year end. Included in the table are the Bank’s assets and 
liabilities at carrying amounts, categorized by the earlier of contractual repricing or maturity dates.

Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk

Cash flow interest rate risk is the risk that the future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market 
interest rates. Fair value interest rate risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in 
market interest rates. The Bank takes on exposure to the effects of fluctuations in the prevailing levels of market interest rates on both 
its fair value and cash flow risks. Interest margins may increase as a result of such changes but may reduce losses in the event that 
unexpected movements arise. 

The tables below summarise the Bank’s fair value exposure to interest rate risks. It includes the Bank’s financial instruments at carrying 
amounts categorised by the earlier of contractual repricing.

31 December 2010
Non-interest 

bearing
Up to 1  
month

1 to 3  
months

3 months to 
1 Year 1-5 Years

Over 
 5 Years Total

Amounts subject 
to fixed rates

Assets

Cash reserves 20,172 7,476 - - - - 27,648 -

Obligatory reserves with the central 
bank - 43,764 - - - - 43,764 -

Placements with and  loans and 
advances to other banks - 152,433 - - - - 152,433 152,433

Loans and advances to customers - 339,321 5,352 155,873 2,219 85 502,850 24,534

Financial assets available for sale 293 10,728 - - - - 11,021 10,728

Other financial assets 1,565 - - - - - 1,565 -

Total financial assets 22,030 553,722 5,352 155,873 2,219 85 739,281 187,695

Liabilities

Current accounts and deposits 
from banks 361 19,515 - 245,457 - - 265,333 17,602

Current accounts and deposits 
from customers 72,278 226,194 6,834 14,148 8,313 478 328,245 41,643

Borrowings - 94,402 3 194 130 69 94,798 301

Other financial liabilities 3,984 - - - - - 3,984 -

Total liabilities 76,623 340,111 6,837 259,799 8,443 547 692,360 59,546

Interest rate gap (54,593) 213,131 (1,485) (103,926) (6,224) (462) 46,921 128,149
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4. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

Na dan 31. decembra 2009.
Non-interest 

bearing
Up to 

 1 month
1 to 3 

 months
3 months to 

1 Year
1-5  

Years
Over  

5 Years Total
Amounts subject 

to fixed rates

Financial assets 

Cash reserves 17,937 26,824 - - - - 44,761 -

Obligatory reserves with the central 
bank - 39,703 - - - - 39,703 -

Placements with and  loans and 
advances to other banks - 135,826 - - - - 135,826 135,826

Loans and advances to customers - 272,870 5,203 135,662 6,304 211 420,250 37,771

Financial assets available for sale 254 - - - - - 254 -

Other financial assets 1,332 - - - - - 1,332 -

Total assets 19,523 475,223 5,203 135,662 6,304 211 642,126 173,597

Liabilities 

Current accounts and deposits from 
banks - 3.355 - 166,246 - - 169,601 -

Current accounts and deposits from 
customers 11,886 160,024 8,521 70,689 33,828 528 285,476 127,808

Borrowings - 114,356 61 332 319 77 115,145 -

Other financial liabilities 2,965 - - - - - 2,965 -

Total liabilities 14,851 277,735 8,582 237,267 34,147 605 573,187 127,808

Interest rate gap 4,672 197,488 (3,379) (101,605) (27,843) (394) 68,939 45,789

Interest rate sensitivity analysis 

The sensitivity analyses below have been determined based on the exposure to interest rates for non-derivative instruments at the 
balance sheet date. For floating rate liabilities, the analysis is prepared assuming the amount of liability outstanding at the balance 
sheet date was outstanding for the whole year. A 50 basis point increase or decrease is used when reporting interest rate risk internally 
to key management personnel and represents management’s assessment of the reasonably possible change in interest rates. 

Based on the above interest rate sensitivity, at 31 December 2010, if interest rates had been 50 basis points higher/lower and all 
other variables were held constant, the Bank’s profit for the year ended 31 December 2010 would increase/decrease by BAM 142 
thousand (2009: decrease/increase by BAM 243 thousand), This is mainly attributable to the Bank’s exposure to variable interest rates 
on borrowings.
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4. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

Maturity of off-balance sheet items 

(a) Loan commitments 

The maturity of the contractual amounts of the Bank’s off-balance-sheet financial instruments that commit it to extend credit to 
customers and other facilities are summarized in the table below. 

(b) Financial guarantees and letters of credits     

Financial guarantees and letters of credits are also included in the table below based on the earliest contractual maturity date.      

(c) Operating lease commitments 

Where the Bank is the lessee, the future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases are summarized in the table 
below. 

Up to 1 year 1-5 years Over 5 years Total

31 December 2010

Loan commitments 33,100 3,805 1,902 38,807

Financial guarantees and letters of credit 26,022 1,371 - 27,393

Operating lease commitments 560 2,024 117 2,701

Total 59,682 7,200 2,019 68,901

31 December 2009

Loan commitments 33,805 - - 33,805

Financial guarantees and letters of credit 30,404 1,640 - 32,044

Operating lease commitments 198 582 - 780

Total 64,407 2,222 - 66,629

Price risk

Price risk is the risk arising from changes in the value of financial instruments as a result from changes in market prices. The Bank has 
a conservative approach to investments in securities. In 2010 the Bank incurred a net loss amounting to BAM 81 thousand based on 
the decrease in value of available for sale financial assets recognised directly in capital (2009: nil).

Operating risk

Operating risks are risks arising from the shortcomings or faults in internal processes, systems and employees or from external 
events. The definition comprises legal risk, and excludes strategic risk and risk of losing reputation. Bank’s exposure to operating risk 
is determined by internal and external factors. Internal factors which determine Bank’s exposure to operating risk are: employees’ 
competence, fluctuation of work force, changes in Bank’s organizational scheme and other. External factors which determine Bank’s 
exposure to operating risk are: changes in financial sector, technological progress, changes in political situation and other.
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4. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

Operating risk management in the Bank includes:

1) monitoring of harmful events from operating risks area

2) identification of operating risks by processes in the Bank

3) evaluation of significant risks

4) addressing significant risks.

Fair value of financial instruments 

The fair value of a financial instrument is the amount for which an asset could be exchanged, or a liability settled, between knowledgeable, 
willing parties in an arm’s-length transaction. Where available, fair value is based on quoted market prices. However, no readily available 
market prices exist for a significant portion of the Bank’s financial instruments. In circumstances where the quoted market prices are 
not readily available, the fair value is estimated using discounted cash flow models or other pricing techniques as appropriate. Changes 
in underlying assumptions, including discount rates and estimated future cash flows, significantly affect the estimates. Therefore, the 
calculated fair market estimates may not be realisable in a current sale of the financial instrument, in particular considering in view of 
the impact of the global financial crisis and lack of liquid market in Bosnia and Herzegovina. 

Cash and cash equivalents 

The carrying values of cash and balances with banks are generally deemed to approximate their fair value.

Loans and advances to customers

As the Bank has a very limited portfolio of loans and advances with fixed rates and longer-term maturity, management considers that 
the fair value of loans and advances is not significantly different from their carrying value, prior to taking into account the effect of 
provisions at the rates specified by the Agency, and without taking into account expected future losses.

Customer deposits

For demand deposits and deposits with no defined maturities, fair value is taken to be the amount payable on demand at the balance 
sheet date. The estimated fair value of fixed-maturity deposits is based on discounted cash flows using rates currently offered for 
deposits of similar remaining maturities. The value of long-term relationship with depositors is not taken into account in estimating fair 
values. As the majority of Bank’s portfolio has short term maturity the management considers that the fair value of customer deposits 
is not significantly different from their carrying value.

Borrowings and bank deposits

The fair value of variable yield borrowings that regularly reprice, with no significant change in credit risk, generally approximates their 
carrying value. The fair value of borrowings at fixed interest rates is estimated using discounted cash flow analyses, based upon interest 
rates currently offered for loans with similar terms to borrowers of similar credit quality, Management considers that the fair value of 
borrowings at fixed interest rates is not significantly different from their carrying value.
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4. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

Capital risk management

The Bank’s objectives when managing capital, which is a broader concept than the ‘equity’ on the face of balance sheets, are:

•	 to comply with the capital requirements set by the regulators of the banking markets;

•	 to safeguard the Bank’s ability to continue as a going concern so that it can continue to provide returns for shareholders and 
benefits for other stakeholders; and 

•	 to maintain a strong capital base to support the development of its business. 

Capital adequacy and the balance of capital are monitored regularly by the Assets and Liabilities Committee (“ALCO”) and Bank’s 
Management Board, based on the relevant internal acts and regulations prescribed by the Agency.

The table below summarizes the composition of regulatory capital and the capital adequacy ratio of the Bank for the years ended 31 
December 2010 and 2009 prepared in accordance with Agency regulations.

2010. 2009.

Bank’s net capital according to Banking Agency regulations 87,992 85,911

Risk from risk weighted assets and loan equivalents 612,556 494,857

Weighted operational risk 31,896 25,640

Total weighted risk 644,452 520,497

Capital adequacy ratio 13.7% 16.5%

We note that the Agency regulations for calculation of capital assignment for operational risk were changed in 2010, resulting in lower 
capital adequacy ratio.

A minimum capital requirement according to the Banking agency regulations amounts to 12%.

In accordance with the Law on Banks (Official Gazette of Federation of BIH), minimum amount of Bank’s paid in equity and the lowest 
level of equity the Bank has to maintain, cannot be less than BAM 15,000 thousand.

Bank’s equity comprises basic capital less basic capital deductible items and additional capital. Bank’s basic capital comprises paid 
share capital and Bank’s reserves. Deductible items of basic capital are: amount of intangible assets, uncovered loss from previous 
years and current year loss, carrying amount of Bank’s treasury shares.
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5. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS

The Bank makes estimates and assumptions about uncertain events, including estimates and assumptions about the future. Such 
accounting assumptions and estimates are regularly evaluated, and are based on historical experience and other factors such as 
the expected flow of future events that can be rationally assumed in existing circumstances, but nevertheless necessarily represent 
sources of estimation uncertainty. The estimation of impairment losses in the Bank’s credit risk portfolio represents the major source of 
estimation uncertainty. This and other key sources of estimation uncertainty, that have a significant risk of causing a possible material 
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year, are described below.

Impairment losses on loans and advances

The Bank monitors the creditworthiness of its customers on an ongoing basis. As already mentioned under note 3 the impairment loss 
recognised in income statement is determined based on the category in which the asset is classified. 

In determining the overall level of loan impairment allowance required, management considers delay in repayment, the financial 
condition of the borrower, capacity of repayments, quality of collateral, economic environment, historic repayment and past debt 
experience.

Taxation

The Bank is subject to income taxes in Bosnia and Herzegovina. Tax returns are subject to the approval of the tax authorities who are 
entitled to carry out subsequent inspections of taxpayers’ records. The interpretation of tax legislation by tax authorities as applied to 
the transactions and activity of the Bank may not coincide with that of the management. As a result, transactions may be challenged 
by tax authorities and the Bank may be assessed additional taxes, penalties and interest, which can be significant. In accordance with 
the Law on Tax Authority of the Federation of Bosnia and Herzegovina, tax liabilities are normally open to inspection by the Tax Authority 
for a period of five years from the origination of the liability.

Court proceedings provisions

The amount recognized as a provision for court proceedings is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the present 
obligation at the balance sheet date, when the probability that the settlement will occur is greater than that it will not.

Regulatory requirements

The Agency is entitled to carry out regulatory inspections of the Bank’s operations and to request changes to the carrying values of 
assets and liabilities, in accordance with the underlying regulations.

Fair value of financial instruments

Management uses its judgement in selecting an appropriate valuation technique for financial instruments not quoted in an active 
market. Valuation techniques commonly used by market practitioners are applied. Financial instruments are valued using a discounted 
cash flow analysis based on assumptions supported, where possible, by observable market prices or rates.

Loans to customers, net

The fair value of variable yield loans that regularly reprice, with no significant change in credit risk, generally approximates their carrying 
value. The fair value of loans at fixed interest rates is estimated using discounted cash flow analyses, based upon interest rates 
currently offered for loans with similar terms to borrowers of similar credit quality. 
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5. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS (CONTINUED)

Retirement benefits

The present value of the retirement benefit obligations depends on a number of factors that are determined on an actuarial basis using 
a number of assumptions. Any changes in these assumptions will impact the carrying amount of pension obligations.

The assumptions used in determining the net cost (income) for pensions include the discount rate. The Bank determines the appropriate 
discount rate at the end of each year (2010 and 2009 – 7%). This is the interest rate that should be used to determine the present value 
of estimated future cash outflows expected to be required to settle the pension obligations. In determining the appropriate discount 
rate, the Bank considers the estimated interest rates of high-quality government bonds. Since at the balance sheet date Government 
of Bosnia and Herzegovina does not have any issued bonds, the Bank uses the average interest rate for long-term deposits. Other key 
assumptions for pension obligations are based in part on current market conditions.

6. INTEREST INCOME AND SIMILAR INCOME

2010. 2009. 

Interest on loans to corporate 23,892 20,900

Interest on loans to retail 16,924 11,215

Interest on placements with and loans and advances to other banks 486 754

Interest on investments in bonds 280 -

Interest on placements with the central bank 194 377

Total 41,776 33,246

7. INTEREST AND SIMILAR EXPENSE

2010. 2009.

Interest on retail’ deposits 4,522 3,398

Interest on corporate’ deposits 3,706 3,943

Interest on deposits and borrowings from banks 3,537 5,166

Total 11,765 12,507

8. FEE AND COMMISSION INCOME

2010. 2009.

Fees from payment transactions 9,158 8,486

Fees from foreign exchange transactions 1,009 798

Fees from off-balance-sheet transactions 969 957

Total 11,136 10,241
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9. FEE AND COMMISSION EXPENSE

2010. 2009.

Fees and commissions for payment transactions 1,116 1,293

Other fees to banks 343 228

Total 1,459 1,521

10. NET FOREIGN EXCHANGE GAINS

2010. 2009.

Foreign exchange trading gains, net 1,017 1,257

Foreign exchange translation gains, net 4 23

Total 1,021 1,280

11. OTHER INCOME

2010. 2009.

Rental income 241 26

Refunds for Supervisory board fees 69 -

Refunds for salaries of trainees 2 47

Other 406 324

Total 718 397

12. PERSONNEL EXPENSES

2010. 2009.

Net salaries 6,926 6,492

Taxes and contributions 5,341 4,676

Other 2,426 1,493

Total 14,693 12,661

The average number of employees of the Bank during the years ended 31 December 2010 and 2009 was 425 and 397 respectively.
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13. OTHER ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES

2010. 2009.

Services 1,984 828

Rent 1,449 1,562

Communication costs 1,263 1,138

Insurance 1,118  908

Advertising and marketing 988 1,139

Transportation 862 1,272

Maintenance 845 750

Energy cost 669 537

Other taxes and dues 657 565

Material expenses 518 615

Fees to Agency 446 427

Fees to Supervisory Board members 110 130

Other 800 563

Total 11,709 10,434

 
14. IMPAIRMENT LOSSES

Notes 2010. 2009.

Loans and advances to customers 22 12,524 16,003

Other assets 24 587 248

Financial instruments available-for-sale 23 220 2

Placements with and loans and advances to banks 21 65 39

Total 13,396 16,292

15. LOSSES / (GAINS) FROM OTHER PROVISIONS

Notes 2010. 2009.

Provisions for legal proceedings 31 133 (549)

Provisions for off-balance sheet items 31 42 (106)

Total 175 (655)
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16. RECOVERIES (PREVIOUSLY WRITTEN-OFF ITEMS)

2010. 2009.

Income from collection of written-off interest receivables 1,408 979

Income from collection of written-off loan principal 974 1,907

Income from collection of written-off other receivables 8 30

Total 2,390 2,916

17. INCOME TAX

Income tax charged in the income statement comprises current tax only.

Income tax expense recognised in income statement.

2010. 2009.

Current tax expense 39 -

Income tax charge for the year 39 -

The official tax rate within the country is 10% (2009: 10%).

 
Reconciliation of the accounting profit and income tax expense

2010. 2009.

Profit/(Loss) before income tax 1,947 (6,482)

Tax effects of items which are not deductible:

- non-taxable income (141) (256)

- non-deductible expenses 1,732 2,691

Taxable profit/(loss) 3,538 -

Deduction: tax reliefs from losses carried forward (3,538) -

Taxable profit in FBiH - -

Taxable profit in Brčko District 390 -

Income tax profit/(loss) for the year 390 (4,047)

Income tax charge for the year (39) -

Effective tax rate (%) 2% -

In accordance with Law on corporate profit tax, tax losses can be carried forward for relief against profit of future accounting periods, 
but for not longer than 5 years. For reasons of prudence, the Bank does not recognize deferred tax assets on tax losses carried forward.
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17. INCOME TAX (CONTINUED)

Tax losses can be carried forward as follows:

 2010. 2009.

Up to 5 years - 4,047

Up to 4 years 1,130 621

Up to 3 years - -

Up to 2 years - -

Up to 1 years - -

1,130 4,668

The Bank’s tax liabilities are ascertained in tax statements prepared by the Bank and might be a matter of subsequent inspection and 
consequent adjustment by tax authorities in a five year period after recognition. The Bank’s Management Board is not aware of any 
circumstances, which may give rise to a potential material liability in this respect.

18. EARNINGS / (LOSS) PER SHARE

2010. 2009.

Weighted average number of shares 764,733 638,108

Net profit / (loss) 1,907 (6,482)

Basic earnings /(loss) per share (in BAM) 2.49 (10.16)

19. CASH AND CASH RESERVES

2010. 2009.

Cash in hand 20,168 17,925

Giro account with central bank 5,661 25,104

Current accounts with other banks in foreign currencies 1,819 1,723

Cheques in course of collection 4 13

Total before impairment 27,652 44,765

Provisions (4) (4)

Total 27,648 44,761
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20. OBLIGATORY RESERVE WITH THE CENTRAL BANK

2010. 2009.

Obligatory reserve at Central Bank 43,764 39,703

Total 43,764 39,703

The obligatory reserve represents amounts required to be deposited with the Central Bank of Bosnia and Herzegovina. Pursuant to the 
Law on the Central Bank of Bosnia and Herzegovina, starting from 1 May 2009 the obligatory reserve requirement represents 14 % of 
average ten-day deposits and borrowings expressed due within one year and 7% of those due after a year in BAM. Government funds 
for development after 1 May 2009 are excluded from the calculation. The obligatory reserve is maintained as the average balance on 
the current account with the Central Bank of Bosnia and Herzegovina. This reserve is available for liquidity purposes. The Central Bank 
of Bosnia and Herzegovina pays a fee on the obligatory reserve in the manner specified by Law.

 
21. PLACEMENTS WITH AND LOANS AND ADVANCES TO OTHER BANKS

2010. 2009.

Placements with banks

Money market placements 147,292 133,272

Restricted deposits 20 636

147,312 133,908

Loans and advances to banks

Intesa Sanpaolo banka d.d. Sarajevo 2,000 -

Privredna banka d.d. Sarajevo 1,921 -

Moja banka d.d. Sarajevo (former Fima banka d.d. Sarajevo) 1,304 1,957

Total before impairment 152,537 135,865

Provisions (104) (39)

Total 152,433 135,826

The average interest rate for placements in EUR on 31 December 2010 was 0.34% (2009: 0.22%).

Changes in provisions are presented as follows:

2010. 2009.

Balance as at 1 January 39 -

Impairment losses (Note 14) 65 39

Balance as at 31 December 104 39

Sparkasse bank d.d. 
Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2010
(All amounts are expressed in BAM thousand unless otherwise stated) 
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22. LOANS AND ADVANCES TO CUSTOMERS

2010. 2009.

Short-term loans

Corporate loans 100,316 98,413

Retail loans 15,111 11,351

115,427 109,764

Long-term loans

Corporate loans 192,515 198,917

Retail loans 215,138 127,672

407,653 326,589

Total loans before provisions for impairment 523,080 436,353

Provisions for loan impairment (20,230) (16,103)

Total 502,850 420,250

Changes in provision can be presented as follows:

2010. 2009.

Balance as at 1 January 16,103 9,914

Impairment losses (Note 14) 12,524 16,003

Write-offs (8,397) (9,814)

Balance as at 31 December 20,230 16,103

Loans and advances to customers are presented including accrued interest in the amount of BAM 2,373 thousand (2009: BAM 2,201 
thousand), and net of deferred fees in the amount of BAM 3,198 thousand (2009: BAM 2,572 thousand).

The weighted average interest rate on loans and advances to customers during the year can be presented as follows:

2010. 2009.

Corporate 7.81% 7.95%

Retail 8.75% 9.21%

Sparkasse bank d.d. 
Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2010
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23. FINANCIAL ASSETS AVAILABLE FOR SALE

2010. 2009.

Equity securities

BAMCARD d.d. Sarajevo 115 115

SWIFT 24 24

S Leasing d.o.o. Sarajevo 120 120

S Premium d.o.o. Sarajevo 40 -

Subtotal 299 259

Less: Provision for impairment (6) (5)

Total equity securities 293 254

Debt securities

Government of Republic of Croatia – bonds (Baa3/BBB) 10,592 -

Government of the Federation of Bosnia and Herzegovina - bonds (B+) 355 -

Subtotal 10,947 -

Less : Provision for impairment (219) -

Total debt securities 10,728 -

Total 11,021 254

Investments are as follows:

Company Activity Ownership Country

BAMCARD d.d. Sarajevo Debit and credit cards 4.73% Bosnia and Herzegovina

SWIFT Interbank telecommunication - Belgium

S Leasing d.o.o. Sarajevo Leasing 10% Bosnia and Herzegovina

S Premium d.o.o. Sarajevo Insurance broker 40% Bosnia and Herzegovina

Changes in provisions are presented as follows:

2010. 2009.

Balance as at 1 January 5 3

Impairment losses (Note 14) 220 2

Balance as at 31 December 225 5

Sparkasse bank d.d. 
Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2010
(All amounts are expressed in BAM thousand unless otherwise stated) 
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24. OTHER ASSETS 

2010. 2009.

Financial assets

VAT receivables 922 -

Fees and commissions receivable 257 405

Receivables from domestic payment transactions 153 663

Receivables from Western Union 86 142

Prepaid income tax - 19

Other financial assets 231 186

1,649 1,415

Non financial assets

Prepaid expenses 75 83

Consumables 77 4

152 87

Total other assets before provision 1,801 1,502

Less: Provision for impairment (196) (209)

Total 1,605 1,293

Changes in provisions are presented as follows:

2010. 2009.

Balance as at 1 January 209 154

Transfer to cash and cash equivalents (4) -

Impairment losses (Note 14) 587 250

Write-offs (596) (195)

Balance as at 31 December 196 209

Sparkasse bank d.d. 
Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2010
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25. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT 

Land and 
buildings Computers Vehicles

Furniture and 
office equipment

Investments in 
progress Total

COST

At 1 January 2009 5,800 2,191 648 4,308 646 13,593

Additions - - - - 3,616 3,616

Transfer (from) / to 1,288 656 126 1,537 (3,607) -

Disposals - - (199) - - (199)

At 31 December 2009 7,088 2,847 575 5,845 655 17,010

Additions - - - - 19,455 19,455

Transfer (from) / to 17,463 321 157 2,057 (19,998) -

Disposals (130) (218) (20) (338) - (706)

At 31 December 2010 24,421 2,950 712 7,564 112 35,759

ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION

At 1 January 2009 539 1,824 411 2,173 - 4,947

Charge for the year 124 379 102 682 - 1,287

Disposals - - (120) - - (120)

At 31 December 2009 663 2,203 393 2,855 - 6,114

Charge for the year 242 247 60 649 - 1,198

Disposals (15) (213) (16) (301) - (545)

At 31 December 890 2,237 437 3,203 - 6,767

CARRYING AMOUNT

31 December 2009 6,425 644 182 2,990 655 10,896

31 December 2010 23,531 713 275 4,361 112 28,992

Sparkasse bank d.d. 
Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2010
(All amounts are expressed in BAM thousand unless otherwise stated) 
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26. INVESTMENT PROPERTY 

The movements in investment property assets during the year ended 31 December 2010 are summarized as follows:

Investment 
property

Investments in 
progress Total

COST

At 31 December 2009 - - -

Additions - 6,128 6,128

Transfer (from) / to 6,331 (6,331) -

Reclassification from intangible assets (Note 27) - 203 203

Disposals - - -

At 31 December 2010 6,331 - 6,331

ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION

At 31 December 2009 - - -

Charge for the year 15 - 15

Reclassification from intangible assets (Note 27) 27 - 27

Disposals - - -

42 - 42

CARRYING AMOUNT

31 December 2009 - - -

31 December 2010 6,289 - 6,289

Investment property relates to business premises rented out (floors) at the headquarters’ building in Sarajevo, not used by the Bank.

Sparkasse bank d.d. 
Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2010

(All amounts are expressed in BAM thousand unless otherwise stated) 
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27. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Intangible 
assets

Leasehold 
improvements

Investments
 in progress Total

COST

At 1 January 2009 1,278 771 1,597 3,646

Additions - - 915 915

Transfer (from) / to 1,884 628 (2,512) -

At 31 December 2009 3,162 1,399 - 4,561

Additions 975 975

Transfer (from) / to 662 119 (781) -

Reclassification to investment property (Note 26) - (203) - (203)

Disposals (47) (194) - (241)

At 31 December 2010 3,777 1,121 194 5,092

ACCUMULATED AMORTISATION

At 1 January 2009 1,023 401 - 1,424

Charge for the year 376 139 - 515

At 31 December 2009 1,399 540 - 1,939

Charge for the year 518 166 - 684

Reclassification to investment property (Note 26) - (27) - (27)

Disposals (45) (74) - (119)

At 31 December 2010 1,872 605 - 2,477

At 31 December 2009 1,399 540 - 1,939

CARRYING AMOUNT

31 December 2009 1,763 859 - 2,622

31 December 2010 1,905 516 194 2,615

Sparkasse bank d.d. 
Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2010
(All amounts are expressed in BAM thousand unless otherwise stated) 
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28. CURRENT ACCOUNTS AND DEPOSITS FROM BANKS

2010. 2009.

Demand deposits

In domestic currency 217 932

In foreign currencies 69 27

286 959

Term deposits

In domestic currency 75 93

In foreign currencies 264,972 168,549

265,047 168,642

Total 265,333 169,601

Term deposits in foreign currency as of 31 December 2010 include a long-term deposit in the amount of EUR 85 million with maturity 
date as at 30 June 2016 (2009: EUR 85 million or BAM 166 million), EUR 4 million with maturity as at 27 October 2011, EUR 9 million 
with maturity as of 17 November 2011, EUR 5,5 million with maturity as at 30 November 2011, EUR 7 million with maturity as at 30 
December 2011, EUR 5 million with maturity as at 23 July 2015, EUR 10 million with maturity as at 31 July 2017 and EUR 9 million with 
maturity as at 27 December 2011 received from Steiermarkische Bank und Sparkassen AG.

Sparkasse bank d.d. 
Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2010

(All amounts are expressed in BAM thousand unless otherwise stated) 
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29. CURRENT ACCOUNTS AND DEPOSITS FROM CUSTOMERS

2010. 2009.

Demand deposits

Retail:

In domestic currency 47,384 31,970

In foreign currencies 20,096 14,896

67,480 46,866

Corporate:

In domestic currency 41,356 30,904

In foreign currencies 5,444 4,763

46,800 35,667

Other government and non-government organizations

In domestic currency 13,453 16,129

In foreign currencies 3,999 2,135

17,452 18,264

131,732 100,797

Term deposits

Retail:

In domestic currency 89,697 19,991

In foreign currencies 27,402 63,989

117,099 83,980

Corporate:

In domestic currency 19,433 12,603

In foreign currencies 17,284 40,426

36,717 53,029

Other government and non-government organizations

In domestic currency 39,273 38,856

In foreign currencies 3,424 8,814

42,697 47,670

196,513 184,679

Total 328,245 285,476

Sparkasse bank d.d. 
Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2010
(All amounts are expressed in BAM thousand unless otherwise stated) 
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30. BORROWINGS

                   Short term                 Long-term                    Total

2010. 2009. 2010. 2009. 2010. 2009.

Steiermarkische Bank und Sparkassen AG (i) 65,065 114,356 90 94 65,155 114,450

Investment Bank of Federation of Bosnia and Herzegovina (ii) - 201 5 297 5 498

Government of Zenica-Doboj Canton (iii) - 192 301 5 301 197

Bankhaus Krentschker & Co. Graz AT (iv) 29,337 - - - 29,337 -

Total 94,402 114,749 396 396 94,798 115,145

(i) The borrowing comprises one short term borrowing repayable in full on 4 January 2011, interest rate 1.2% p.a. 

(ii) Borrowed funds are for the purpose of restructuring of existing loans for working capital as well as financing of development 
programs and projects of small and medium sized enterprises in the Federation of Bosnia and Herzegovina. The funds are approved for 
periods ranging between 2.5 - 5 years, with an interest rate of 6-month EURIBOR. Repayments are made in equal monthly instalments. 

(iii) On 24 May 2004, Zenica-Doboj Canton approved a credit line for financing of economic development and improvement of 
employment. Loan maturity is up to 10 years, with a grace period of up to 24 months, depending on the particular loan approved to the 
final beneficiary. Interest rate is EURIBOR + 1.5% p.a., but not less than 6% p.a.

(iv) The borrowing comprises one short term borrowing repaid in full on 5 January 2011, interest rate 1.184% p.a.

31. OTHER PROVISIONS

2010. 2009.

Provision for off-balance sheet items (Note 15) 1,345 1,303

Provision for legal proceedings (Note 15) 1,045 958

Provisions for employee benefits 1,042 559

Total 3,432 2,820

Changes in provisions are presented as follows:

Legal 
proceedings

Off-balance 
sheet items

Provisions for 
employee benefits Total

Balance as of January 2009 1,527 1,409 615 3,551

Net release from profit or loss (549) (106) (29) (684)

Provisions paid during the year (20) - (27) (47)

Balance as at 31 December 2009 958 1,303 559 2,820

Balance as of January 2010 958 1,303 559 2,820

Net charge to profit or loss 133 42 483 658

Provisions settled during the year (46) - - (46)

Balance as at 31 December 2010 1,045 1,345 1,042 3,432

Net (release)/charge to income statement for provisions for employee benefits is presented as part of personnel expenses. 

Sparkasse bank d.d. 
Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2010

(All amounts are expressed in BAM thousand unless otherwise stated) 
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32. OTHER LIABILITIES

2010. 2009.

Other financial liabilities

Liabilities to employees 1,791 1,093

Liabilities to suppliers 900 829

Liabilities for undistributed payments 248 236

Tax payables 152 20

Liabilities for dividends 148 148

Income tax liability 8 -

Liabilities from on-lending activities (see Note 35) 2 2

Liabilities from interbank transactions - 6

Other 735 631

Total 3,984 2,965

33. SHARE CAPITAL

The Bank’s ownership structure was as follows:

31 December 2010 31 December 2009

Share capital 
BAM '000

Number of 
shares

% of 
ownership

Share capital 
BAM '000

Number of 
shares

% of 
ownership

Steiermarkische Bank und Sparkassen AG, Graz, Austria 73,823 738,230 96.5 73,812 738,118 96.5

Other 2,650 26,503 3.5 2,661 26,615 3.5

Total 76,473 764,733 100.0 76,473 764,733 100.0

Share capital is made up of 764,733 ordinary shares with a nominal value of BAM 100 per share.

Share premium represents the excess of the paid-in amount over the nominal value of the issued shares. 

 

Sparkasse bank d.d. 
Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2010
(All amounts are expressed in BAM thousand unless otherwise stated) 
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34. RELATED-PARTY TRANSACTIONS 

Transactions with related parties are summarized as follows:

31 December 2010 31 December 2009

Receivables Payables Receivables Payables

Erste Bank der Oesterreichischen Sparkassen AG Wien, Austria 16,860 - 14,533 -

Steiermarkische Bank und Sparkassen AG, Graz, Austria 91 263,094 - 282,999

Erste and Steiermarkische bank dd Zagreb, Croatia 30 - 6 -

Sparkasse Bank Macedonia 1 - - -

Total 16,982 263,094 14,539 282,999

31 December 2010 31 December 2009

Income Expenses Income Expenses

Sparkasse Bank, Macedonia 197 - - -

Erste Bank der Oesterreichischen Sparkassen AG Wien, Austria 21 - 41 -

Steiermarkische Bank und Sparkassen AG, Graz, Austria 14 3,523 33 5,039

Erste and Steiermarkische bank dd Zagreb, Croatia - - 4 -

Steiermarkische Bank und Sparkassen AG, Graz, Austria – fee 
expenses - 180 - 66

S Leasing d.o.o. Sarajevo - 212

Total 232 3,915 78 5,105

All of the transactions stated above have been made under commercial and banking terms and conditions, Director’s and executives’ 
remuneration, The total remuneration of the Management Board and other members of key management during the year ended 31 
December 2010 was as follows:

2010. 2009.

Salaries and other income 893 1,008

Taxes and contributions on salaries and other income 649 772

Total 1,542 1,780

Sparkasse bank d.d. 
Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2010

(All amounts are expressed in BAM thousand unless otherwise stated) 



96 Annual Report 2010

35. MANAGED FUNDS

Funds managed by the Bank on behalf of individuals, trusts and other institutions are not assets of the Bank and, therefore, are not 
included in its balance sheet.

The table below provides analysis of the funds managed on behalf of customers by investment type:

2010. 2009.

Loans

Companies 18.395 18.762

Individuals 3.970 4.193

Total 22.365 22.955

LIABILITIES

Employment agency of the Federation of Bosnia and Herzegovina 19,027 19,292

Citizens and companies 140 -

Ministry of War veterans of Zenica-Doboj Canton 1,119 1,072

Ministry of Trade of Bosnia-Drina Canton - 810

Ministry of Trade of Bosansko-podrinjski Canton-„stambeni-BIZ“ - 31

International Guarantee Agency 644 655

Government of Zenica-Doboj Canton 271 295

Government of Bosnia-Drina Canton 828 -

Employment agency of Zenica-Doboj Canton 205 229

Employment agency of Bosnia-Drina Canton 23 24

USAID - 248

Lutheran World Federation 73 73

Housing fund of Una-Sana Canton 29 32

War veterans Bihać 8 14

Bor banka - 42

Organizacija poginulih Šehida i poginulih boraca Zenica - 140

Total 22,367 22,957

Current liabilities from managed funds activities (see Note 32) 2 2

The Bank does not bear the risk for these placements and charges a fee for its service.

Sparkasse bank d.d. 
Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2010
(All amounts are expressed in BAM thousand unless otherwise stated) 



97Annual Report 2010

36. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

The aggregate amount of outstanding guarantees, letters of credit and undrawn loan commitments at the year and were:

2010. 2009.

Undrawn lending commitments 38,807 33,805

Payment guarantees 18,490 23,011

Performance guarantees 7,804 8,500

Letters of credit 1,099 533

Total 66,200 65,849

37. OPERATING LEASES

2010. 2009.

Not later than one year 560 198

Between 1 and not later than 5 year 2,024 582

Later than 5 years 117 -

Total 2,701 780

Sparkasse bank d.d. 
Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2010

(All amounts are expressed in BAM thousand unless otherwise stated) 
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Branches

PLACE

BRANCH SARAJEVO
Ferhadija	
Centar	 	
Novi Grad	
Vogošća	 	
Dobrinja		
Novo Sarajevo	
Ilidža	
	
BRANCH GORAŽDE

BRANCH BIHAĆ 
Bihać	 	
Bos. Petrovac	
Cazin	 	
V. Kladuša
Sanski Most	
Ključ	 	

BRANCH TUZLA
Sjenjak	
Gračanica	
Živinice	
Gradačac	
Lukavac	
Čelić	
Brčko

BRANCH ZENICA
Zenica	
Žepče	
Kakanj	
Tešanj	
Maglaj	
Jelah	
Travnik	
Bugojno	

BRANCH MOSTAR
Konjic		
Jablanica	
Mostar		
Čapljina	 	
Široki Brijeg	

BRANCH VISOKO
Fojnica	

BRANCH BANJA LUKA
Doboj
Prijedor 

BRANCH BIJELJINA

ADDRESS

Zmaja od Bosne br. 7
Ferhadija br. 23
Maršala Tita br. 15
Bulev. Meše Selimovića br. 97	
Braće Halać br. 18
Dobrinjske bolnice br. 11
Zmaja od Bosne br. 60
Samira Ćatovića Kobre br. 2
	
Alije Hodžića br. 3

Hasana Kjafije Pruščaka bb, Ozimice I
V Korpusa br. 1
Trg šehida bb
Cazinskih brigada br. 24
Trg A. M. Brene bb
Mahala br. 2
Branilaca bb

Aleja Alije Izetbegovića br. 2
Ismeta Mujezinovića bb
Fridriha Foglera br. 8
Tuzlanskog odreda blok 1
Husein kap. Gradaščevića bb
Sarajevska br. 5
Alije Izetbegovića bb-Tržni centar
Bulevar mira br. 30

Maršala Tita br. 9
Aska Borića br. 23
Stjepana Tomaševića bb
Alije Izetbegovića bb
Nesuha Mešića br. 3
Viteška bb
Titova Ulica bb 
Bosanska br. 121
Trg Zlatnih ljiljana br. 3

Husnije Repca bb
Željeznička bb
Putnikova bb
Kralja Tvrtka br. 12
Trg Kralja Tomislava br. 26
Trg Ante Starčevića br. 6

Alije Izetbegovića br. 16
Bosanska bb

Aleja Svetog Save br. 7
Nemanjina br. 64
Svetosavska bb

Dositeja Obradovića bb

TELEPHONE

033/722 400
033/580 913
033/722 431
033/769 690
033/424 070
033/788 460
033/718 335
033/764 925

038/241 095

037/229 056
037/229 055
037/883 166
037/510 045
037/775 035
037/688 588
037/660 148

035/300 750
035/300 767
035/700 171
035/740 900
035/821 505
035/550 140
035/668 091
049/235 453

032/449 220
032/449 232
032/888 240
032/552 950
032/665 130
032/609 320
032/667 710
030/519 451
030/270 410

036/501 800
036/734 120
036/750 570
036/333 450
036/810 612
039/700 031

032/730 382
030/544 131

051/340 015
053/205 531
052/242 151

055/228 872

FAX

033/722 419
033/580 919
033/722 430
033/769 710
033/424 715
033/788 455
033/718 375
033/764 945

038/241 098

037/224 191
037/229 079
037/883 163
037/510 044
037/775 083
037/688 606
037/660 013

035/300 757
035/300 771
035/700 075
035/740 950
035/822 040
035/550 435
035/668 220
049/235 455

032/449 229
032/449 230
032/888 156
032/552 960
032/665 135
032/609 800
032/667 870
030/519 498
030/260 160

036/501 810
036/735 980
036/752 233
036/333 448
036/810 610
039/700 414

032/730 355
030/544 135

051/340 030
053/206 940
052/243 290

055/220 889
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